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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED
MANAGEMENT REPORT
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
The Board of Directors presents the management report together with the audited financial statements of the
National Bank of Greece (Cyprus) Limited (the “Bank™) for the year ended 31 December 2020.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY
The main activity of the Bank is the provision of a wide range of banking and financial services. The Bank is a
wholly owned subsidiary of National Bank of Greece S.A. (“parent bank”).
OPERATING ENVIRONMENT
The operating environment of the Bank is presented in Note 38 of the financial statements,
REVIEW OF DEVELOPMENTS, POSITION AND PERFORMANCE OF THE BANK’S BUSINESS
As presented on page 12 of the financial statements, the loss of the Bank after taxation amounted to €9.430.938
(2019: loss 0of €1.400.596).

The main financial highlights for the year are set out below. The decrease in the Bank’s profitability during the
year-ended 31 December 2020 was primarily attributable to the decrease in the interest income during the year,
increased other income and foreign exchange gains in the prior year, increased Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”)
in the current year and increased tax charge in the current year in relation to deferred tax asset impairment.

2020 2019
€000 €000
Net Interest Income 10.770 11.833
Fee and Commission Income 3.711 3.835
Other Income and foreign exchange gains 1.805 4.080
Staff Costs (15.455) (15.165)
Other Operating Expenses (6.623) (5.755)
Impairment (charge)/release for ECL on Loans and Advances to 1.668) 83
Customers a.
Loss for the Year, after Tax (9.431) (1.401)
Loans and Advances to Customers before ECL allowance (Gross Loans) 223.791 253.350
Deposits and other customer accounts (Customer deposits) 566.447 597.582
Total Assets 662.902 708.995
Total Equity 67.059 75.975
2020 2019
Net Interest Margin 1,7% 1,8%
Cost to Income ratio 134,7% 105,7%
Return on average equity -12,9% -1,9%
Loans and Advances to Customers to Customer Deposits (net) 36,9% 42.3%
Non Performing Exposures (“NPEs”) to Gross Loans 22,6% 18,6%
Total capital ratio 35,55% 30,42%
35,55% 30,42%

Core Equity Tier 1 ratio




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

BRANCH NETWORK

The Bank operates in Cyprus through 13 Branches (9 Retail, 2 Business Centers, 2 IBUs). The Bank has also
established a Representative Office in Moscow, Russia.

GOING CONCERN
Management has made an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Despite uncertain economic environment in Cyprus as described in Note 38 of the financial statements, the Board
of Directors of the Bank has assumed that the Bank has the ability to continue its operations as a going concern
on the basis of the Bank’s liquidity and capital adequacy position (see Note 40 of the financial statements).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES, RISK MANAGEMENT, AND USE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS BY THE BANK

The Bank is exposed fo various risks, the most important of which are Credit Risk, Liquidity Risk, and Market
Risk (including interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk). Detailed information relating to the Bank’s risk
exposures and risk management are set out in Note 39 of the financial statements.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Bank. The Bank has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining
sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from counterparty credit
risk. The Bank’s exposure and the credit ratings and credit worthiness of counterparties are regularly monitored
and the counterparty credit exposure is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by
counterparty limits approved by the Bank and which are reviewed and approved at least on an annual basis.

The loan portfolio is assessed on the basis of customer creditworthiness, sector of the economy in which the
customer operates and the country of operation and is regularly audited by the Internal Audit department. The
Bank’s policy regarding the determination of the level of provisions for impairment is described in the summary
of significant accounting policies.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet current and fitture payments obligations as and when they
fall due. This risk includes the possibility that the Bank may have to raise funding at a higher cost or sell assets at

a discount.

Bank assets are mainly funded by deposits. The maturity of the deposits is actively monitored in order to avoid
concentration of funding maturities at any point in time. The responsibility for the management of liquidity rests
with the Bank’s treasury department.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Bank’s short, medium and long-
term funding and liquidity requirements, in order to also ensure compliance with the applicable regulatory limits.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices. The Bank is exposed primarily to fimancial
risks emanating from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The ways that these risks are

dealt with are analysed below:

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because

of changes in market interest rates. It arises as a result of timing differences on the interest rate repricing of assets
and liabilities. The Bank monitors on a continuous basis the interest rate movements and the repricing or maturity
structure of its assets and liabilities.



NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES, RISK MANAGEMENT, AND USE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS BY THE BANK (continued)

Market risk (continned)

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of

changes in foreign exchange rates. It arises from an open position in a foreign currency, creating an exposure to a
change in the relevant exchange rate. This may arise from the holding of financial assets in one currency funded

by liabilities in another currency.

In order to manage currency risk, the Bank has approved open position limits for each currency. Adherence to the
limits is monitored on a daily basis by the freasury department and the operations and support division.

EXPECTED FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS OF THE BANK / STRATEGIC TARGETS

In the first quarter of 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 as a pandemic.
The COVID-19 pandemic has caused a significant global economic downturn which has adversely affected, and
is expected to continue to adversely affect, the Bank’s business and results of operaticns. The evolution of the

disease and its economic impact remains highly uncertain.

Cyprus economy is facing significant challenges in view of the important role of services in economic activity
and its relatively shallow production structure (high dependence on imports). The backdrop of ongoing downward
revisions of growth forecasts for-the global economy and the euro area, in conmjunction with Cyprus’ high
dependency on inbound tourism, pose significant downside risks to Cyprus GDP growth in 2021. The future
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Cyprus and/or global economy and the Bank’s business, results of
operations and financial condition remain uncertain.

With the COVID-19 pandemic still affecting the Cyprus (and global) economy, 2021 is expected to be a year of
gradual recovery of the economic activity afier an unprecedented historical disruption. More specifically, the
rollout of vaccinations, supportive financial conditions and the initiation of the a set of measures provided in 2020
and continued in 2021 (see Note 38) will be the key drivers of economic recovery and the hit to the economy
could be reversed until early-2023, assuming that: a) the pandemic is sufficiently addressed in 2021 through the
rollout of vaccinations, with no significant recurrence of the disease due to virus mutations and/or insufficient
coverage of the population; and b) the persistent impact of fiscal and monetary easing, in conjunction with
liquidity measures, will continue to assist the recovery in most sectors of economic activity, preventing the
ongoing demand and liquidity stress on specific entities from turning into a solvency issue for a part of the private

sector.

The Bank’s priority is always the well-being of our customers and staff. Therefore, we have invoked our business
continuity plans to help ensure the safety and well-being of our staff, as well as our capability to support our

customers and maintain our business operations.
The strategic objectives of the Bank for the following years are:

Effective management of the performing portfolic in order to restrain the creation of new non-performing
exposures as a result of COVID-19 outbreak,

. Effectively manage the NPE and further reduce the Bank’s NPE ratio.

° Maintain healthy — low cost liquidity and maintain adequate regulatory liquidity ratios in accordance with
the Central Bank of Cyprus liquidity requirements.

Implementation of a restructuring plan in 202] aimed at reducing costs, increasing profitability and
improving profitability ratios.

® Maintain capital adequacy position.

° Further strengthening of banking services towards Real Estate, Energy, Education, Shipping and
Construction industries.




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

MANAGEMENT REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

SHARE CAPITAL
There were no changes in the share capital of the Bank.

RESULTS

The Bank’s results for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out on pages 12 and 13. The loss for the vear is
transferred to retained eatnings.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Events after the reporting period are disclosed in Note 41 of the Financial Statements.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The members of the Board of Directors at 31 December 2020 and at the date of this report are shown on page 1.
All of them were members of the Board throughout the year 2020 and up to the date of this Management Report.

There were no significant changes in the assignment of responsibilities and remuneration of the Board of
Directors during the year.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited, have expressed their willingness to continue in
office. A resolution giving authority to the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration will be proposed at the

Annua! General Meeting.

Louka Katseli Lucia Pagdari
Chairwoman Secretary

By order of the Board of Directors

Nicosia, 27 May 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of National Bank of Greece (Cyprus) Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of parent company National Bank of Greece
(Cyprus) Limited (the “Bank™) give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31
December 2020, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and the
requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113.

‘What we have audited
We have audited the parent company financial statements which are presented in pages 12 to 100 and
comprise:

the Balance sheet as at 31 December 2020;

the Income staternent for the year then ended;

the Statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the Statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the Statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the Notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and the requirements of
the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion,

Independence

We remained independent of the Bank throughout the period of our appointment in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Cyprus and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Lid, PwC Central, 43 Demostheni Severi Avenue, CY¥-1080 Nicosia 6
P Q Box 21612, CY-1591 Nicosia, Cyprus
T: +357 - 22 555 000, F:+357 - 22 555 001, WWWw.pwe.com.cy

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd is a private company registered in Cyprus (Reg. No.143594). [ts regisiered office is at 3 Themistocles Dervis Strest, CY-1068, Nicosia. A list of the
company's dirscters, induding for Individuals the present and former (if any) name and sumame and nationality, if not Cypriet and for logal entities the corperate nams, is kept
by the Secretary of the company at Its reglstered office. PwC refers to the Cyprus member firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd and may semetimes refer to the PwC network.
Each member firm is a separate fegal entity. Please see www.pwc.com/structure for further details.
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Key audit matters incorporating the most significant risks of material misstatements,
including assessed risk of material misstatements due to fraud

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter

Credit loss allowance for loans and advances
to customers, using the expected credit loss
model in line with the requirements of IFRS ¢
“Financial Instruments™

We focused on this area because this is a
complex accounting standard for which
models have been developed by the Bank to
calculate expected credit losses (“ECL”} and
significant judgements and estimates are
involved in estimating expected credit losses
on loans and advances to customers.

Loans and advarnces to customers comprise a
large portion of the Bank’s total assets and in
view of the significance of the judgements and
estimates involved in estimating expected
credit losses on loans and advances to
customers we have considered this to be a key
audit matter.

Note g “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies”, Note 5 “Critical Accounting
Estimates and Judgments”, Note 21 “Credit
loss allowance on loans and advances to
customers” and Note 39 “Risk Management”
to the finaneial statements provide detailed
information on the estimation of expected
credit losses on loans and advances to
customers, on credit risk management
practices, credit risk exposures, as well as
qualitative and quantitative information
arising from expected credit losses on loans
and advances to customers,

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

‘We updated our understanding of the models
used by the Bank and further evaluated
management’s implementation process of these
models for the calculation of expected credit
losses (“ECL”). These included probability-
weighted macroeconomic scenarios, staging
criteria and loss given default estimates.

We have focused on the following judgements
and estimates which could give rise to material
misstatement or are potentially subject to
management bias:

Probability of default (“PD™);
Loss given default (“LGD”);
Exposure at default (“EAD™);
Discount rates;

Forward Jooking information.

Further, in obtaining sufficient audit evidence
we:

s  Obtained an understanding and assessed the
reasonableness of the key outputs calculated
by the models;

¢  Understood, evaluated the design and tested
the operating effectiveness of key controls
around the process of loan performance
monitoring and the process of ECL data
input management;

»  Evaluated, challenged and tested the key
assumptions and judgements adopted by
management,

*« Reviewed the Bank’s methodology for ECL
provisioning to establish key inputs used in
the calculation engine and on a sample basis
tested the key inputs used. Inputs used in
the sample tested were compared to the ECL
methodology to ensure consistency with
policies;

¢ Performed procedures to obtain comfort on
the accuracy of the ECL calculation process
through recalculation;
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Key Audit Matter

Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Bank has
deferred tax assets of €3,5 million in respect of
tax losses available to be carried forward to
future years. The basis of the recognition is
presented in Note 3 “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies” and further analysed in
Note 5 “Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements” and Note 15 “Income Tax”.

The recovery and carrying amount of the
deferred tax assets require management
judgement and estimation in assessing the
probability, timing and sufficiency of future
taxable profits from which deductible
temporary differences and unutilised tax losses
can be offset, particularly when this forecasting
extends beyond the normal planning cycle.
This in turn is based on assumptions
concerning future economic conditions,
business performance and legislation
governing the use of historical trading losses
carried forward.

In light of the inherent uncertainty and
significant amount of judgement and
estimation required by management, we have
considered future forecasts supporting the
recognition of deferred tax assets to be a key
audit matter.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

o Performed procedures to ensure that the
Bank applies the three-stage approach for
categorisation of loans and advanees to
customers and that changes in credit quality
since initial recognition are appropriately
monitored, determined and reflected in the
Bank’s financial position;

e Performed loan file reviews on a sample
basis to inspect financial particulars and
assessed the adequacy of ECL;

+  Assessed the disclosures made to ensure
compliance with the relevant accounting
standards.

The results of the above procedures were
satisfactory.

In obtaining sufficient andit evidence:

» We agreed the historical taxable losses which
have given rise to the deferred tax asset to
appropriate supporting documentation such
as prior year tax computations;

+ We agreed future taxable profits as estimated
by management to the Bank’s business plan
whose internal mathematical consistency
and calculations were assessed for accuracy;

s We assessed projected taxable profits for
reasonableness with reference to known
historical results of the Bank;

e We assessed management’s plans for new
lending for reasonableness with reference to
existing and projected levels of excess
liquidity;

» We assessed the Bank’s projected cost base
for reasonableness with reference to the
historical cost basis as adjusted for expected
changes thereon;

» We assessed the accuracy of ealeulations that
pertain to deferred tax asset impairment
recognised during the year with reference to
the Bank’s projected taxable profits and the
statutory expiry dates of relevant losses;

o We scrutinised via recalculation the accuracy
of the Bank’s sensitivity analysis disclosure
pertaining to adverse developments that may
depart from projected outcomes;
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

o We assessed the adequacy and
appropriateness of remaining relevant
disclosures for compliance with the
applicable accounting standards.

The results of the above procedures were
satisfactory.

Reporting

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Management Report but does not include the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in

this regard.

Responsilﬁi'fities of the Boa_r?i'-(u)fb.frectors and those chargec_i_zzith governance for the

Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union and the requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113, and for such internal control as the
Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Bank or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conduected in accordanece with ISAs will aiways detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.







As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Banlk’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.

= Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uneertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that 2 material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
andit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditicns may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

# Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves a true and fair view.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

‘We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters.

Requirements
Pursuant to the requirements of Article 10(2) of the EU Regulation 537/2014 we provide the following
information in our Independent Auditor’s Report, which is required in addition to the requirements of
International Standards on Auditing,

Appointment of the Auditor and Period of Engagement

We were first appointed as auditors of the Bank on 5 October 2017 by the Board of Directors of the
Bank for the audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017. Our appointment
has been renewed annually by shareholder resolution representing a total period of uninterrupted
engagement appointment of 4 years.

Consistency of the Additional Report to the Audit Committee

We confirm that our audit opinion on the financial statements expressed in this report is consistent
with the additional report to the Audit Commitiee of the Bank, which we issued on 26 May 2021 in
accordance with Article 11 of the EU Regulation 537/2014.

10
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Provision of Non-audit Services

We declare that no prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5 of the EU Regulation
537/2014 and Section 72 of the Auditors Law of 2017 were provided. In addition, there are no non-
audit services which were provided by us to the Bank and which have not been disclosed in the
financial statements or the Management Report.

Other Legal Requirements
Pursuant to the additional requirements of the Auditors Law of 2017, we report the following:

° In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit, the Management
Report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Cyprus Companies
Law, Cap. 113, and the information given is consistent with the financial statements.

. In Iight of the knowledge and understanding of the Bank and its environment obtained in the
course of the andit, we are required to report if we have identified material misstatements in

the Management Report. We have nothing to report in this respect.

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Bank’s members as a body in
accordance with Article 10(1) of the EU Regulation 537/2014 and Section 69 of the Auditors Law of
2017 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for
any other purpose or to any other person to whose knowledge this report may come to.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is George C.
Kazamias.

/g%me 4 /"/2"’"5

George C. Kazamias
Certified Public Accountant and Registered Auditor
for and on behalf of

PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited
Certified Public Accountants and Registered Auditors

PwC Central, 43 Demostheni Severi Avenue
CY-1080 Nicosia Cyprus

27 May 2021
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Interest income
Interest expense

Net interest income

Fee and commission income
Net foreign exchange gains
Other income

Other losses

Staff costs

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Other operating expenses

Loss before impairment charge for ECL on loans and advances
to customers and other financial assets

Impairment (charge) / reversal for ECL on loans and advances to
customers

Reversal / (charge) of impairment for ECL on other financial
assets

Impairment charge for ECL on financial assets

Loss before tax
Tax (charge)/credit

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Note

6
7

10
11

I3
24,25
27
14

21

12

15

2020 2019
€ €
11.357.529 13.466.725
(587.142) (1.634.074)
10.770.387 11.832.651
3.711.206 3.834.611
170.762 399.883
1.633.871 3.679.927
(166.580) (203.222)
16.119.646 19.543.850
(15.454.699) (15.165.269)
(1.011.750) (1.075.122)
(618.667) (546.384)
(4.992.704) (4.133.910)
(22.077.820) (20.920.685)
(5.958.174) (1.376.835)
(1.668.329) 83.303
432.653 (169.481)
(1.235.676) (86.178)
(7.193.850) (1.463.013)
(2.237.088) 62.417
(9.430.938) (1.400.596)

The notes on pages 17 to 100 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020 2019

Note € €
LOSS FOR THE YEAR (9.430.938) (1.400.5396)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) .
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 7
{L.oss)/gain on revaluation of properties 33 (9.738) 215.000
Changes in the fair value of equity investments designated at fair . _
value through other comprehensive income 22,33 524.303 2,243,482
Jiems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 514.565 2.458.482
Other comprehensive income for the vear, net of tax 514.565 2.458.482
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSEYINCOME FOR
THE YEAR (8.916.373) 1.057.886

The notes on pages 17 to 100 form an integral part of the financial statements.



BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

Note
ASSETS
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Cyprus 16
Mandatory deposits with Central Bank of Cyprus 16
Deposits with other banks 17
Loans and advances to customers 19
Deposits with related banks 20(a)
Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income 22(a)
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss 22(b)
Other financial assets at amortised cost 23
Investment in subsidiary 18
Property, plant and equipment 24
Right-of-use assets 25
Investment property 26
Intangible assets 27
Other assets 28
Current income tax assets
Deferred income tax assets 15(b)
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Deposits from other banks 29
Deposits and other customer accounts 30
Deposits from related banks 20(b)
Lease liabilities 25
Other liabilities 31
Current income tax liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities 15(b)
Total liabilities
EQUITY
Share capital 32
Revaluation reserves 33

Retained earnings
Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

The finaneial sta s haye been approved by the Board of Directors on 27 May 2021,

2020
€

132.221.161
5.412.868
34.431.345
209.299.000
80.787.897

7.187.150
3.131
166.003.473
1.709
10.181.190
2.196.355
3.840.000
S5.111.717
2.747.022

3.478.239

662.902.257

12.271.766
566.447.040
5.612.232
2.353.531
7.300.556
35.124
1.823.283

595.843.532

51.300.000
15.764.492

(5.767T)

67.058.725

662.902.257

Marinis
Chief Exécutive

iannos Michae

Chief Financial Officer

2019
€

49.202.111
6.086.485
38.828.908
240.364.963
185.861.725

6.662.847
5.212
146.787.096
1.709
10.385.422
3.054.955
4.004.500
5.042.211
4.825.691
1.453.904
6.427.398

708.995.137

16.944.584
597.582.328
4.828.072
3.144.266
8.702.494

1.818.295

633.020.039

51.300.000
15.249.927
9.425.171

75.975.098

708.995.137

—_—

The notes on pages 17 to 100 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Revaluation
reserve for
Property financial
revaluation assets at Retained
Share Capital reserve FVOCI earnings (1) Total
€ € € € €
Balance at 1 January 2019 51.300.000 8.182.266 4,609.179 10.825.767 74.917.212
Comprehensive income:
Lbss for the year . - “ (1.400.596) (1.400.596)
Other comprehensive income for the
year (Noies 22, 24, 33} - 215.000 2.243.482 - 2,458,482
Total comprehensive income for the
year 215.000 2.243.482 {1.400.596) 1.057.886
Balance at 31 December 2019/1
January 2020 51.300.000 8.397.266 6.852.661 9425171 75.975.098
Comprehensive loss:
Loss for the vear - - - (9.420.938) (9.430.938)
Other comprehensive income for the
year (Notes 22, 24, 33) - (9.738) 524.303 B 514,565
Total comprehensive loss for the vear (9.738) - 524.303 {9.430.938) (8:916.373)
Balance at 31 December 2020 51.300.000 8.387.528 7.376.964 ‘ {3.767). 67.058.725
(1 Companies which do not distribute 70% of their profits after tax, as defined by the Special C"ontribution for the Defence of the Republic Law, by the

end of the two years after the end of the year of assesstnent to which the profits refer, will be deémed to have distributed this amount as dividend.
Special contribution for defence at the rate of 17% will be payable on such deemed dividend to the extent that the shareholders for deemed dividend
distribution puiposes at the end of the period of two years from the end.of the year of assessment to which the profits refer, are Cyprus tax residents and
domiciled. From 1 March 2019, the deemed dividend distribution is subject to a 1,70% contribution to the National Health System, increased to 2,65%
from 1 March 2020, with the exception of April 2020 until June 2020 when the 1,70% rate was applicable. The amouint of this.deemed dividend
distribution is reduced by any actual dividend paid out of the profits of the relevant year by the end of the period of two years from the end of the year
of assessment to which the profits refer. This special contribution for defence is paid by the Company for the account of the shareholders.

The notes on pages 17 to 100 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of intangible assets

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of government bonds and treasury bills
Proceeds from disposal and maturity of government
bonds and treasury bills

Dividend income received

Interest received on debt securities

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Payment of principal portion of lease liability

Payment of interest portion of lease liability

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Credit losses on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

Note

35

27
24
23

23

25
25

36

2020
€

(7.923.224)

(688.173)
(45.317)
(242.923.956)

224.174.724
124.993
1.587.908
(17.769.821)
(677.573)
(66.668)
(744.241)
(26.437.286)
(384.719)
274.742.975

247.920.970

2019
€

37.978.115

(870.983)
(52.509)
(366.153.343)

370.050.630
88.659
1.074.060
4.136.514
(652.180)
(126.899)
(779.079)
41.335.550
132.313
233.275.112

274.742.975

The notes on pages 17 to 100 from an integral part of the financial statements.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ¢nded 31 December 2020

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Country of incorporation

National Bank of Greece (Cyprus) Limited (the “Bank™) is incorporated in Cyprus as a private limited
liability company in accordance with the provisions of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113. Iis parent
and ultimate holding company is National Bank of Greece S.A. and incorporated in Greece.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Bank are the provision of a wide range of banking and financial services.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

During the current vear the Bank adopted all the new and revised International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) that are relevant to its operations and are
effective for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2020. This adoption did not have a material effect
on the accounting policies of the Company.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the .preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been preparéd in accordance with 1FRSs as adopted by the EU and the
requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113.

As of the date of the authorisation of the financial statements, all International Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are effective as of 1
January 2020 have been adopted by the EU through the endorsement procedure established by the
European Commission.

These separate financial statements contain information about National Bank of Greece (Cyprus) Limited
as an individual Bank and do not contain consolidated financial information as the parent of a group. The
Bank has taken advantage of the exemption under IFRS 10 "Consolidated Financial Statements” and the
Cyprus Companies Law, Cap.113 from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements as
the Bank and its subsidiary are included in the consolidated financial statements of its parent bank,
National Bank of Greece S.A., which prepares consolidated and separated financial statetnents in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU that are available for
public use. These consolidated financial statements are available at the National Bank of Greece 5.A.'s
website (www.nbg.gr).

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
The Bank's presentation currency is the Euro (€), which is also the Bank’s functional currency.

The financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except for land and buildings, investment
properties, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and derivative financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the Bank's financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency™). The financial statements are
presented in Euro (€), which is the Bank's functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing

at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary items denominated in a foreign currency are translated using the closing rate as at the reporting
date. Non-monetary items measured at historic cost denominated in a foreign currency are translated with
the exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition; non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are
measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair vaiue through profit or loss, are
recognised in profit or loss, as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets, such as equities classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income are included in other comprehensive income.

Revenue
Recognition and measurement

Revenue represents the amount of consideration to which the Bank expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring the promised services to the customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties
(for example, value-added taxes); the transaction price. The Bank includes in the transaction price an amount
of variable consideration as a result of rebates/discounts only to the extent that it is highly probable that a
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Estimations for rebates and discounts
are based on the Bank’s experience with similar contracts.

The Bank recognises revenue when the parties have approved the contract (in writing, orally or in accordance
with other customary business practices) and are committed to perform their respective obligations, the Bank
can identify each party’s rights and the payment terms for the services to be transferred, the contract has
commercial snbstance (i.e. the risk, timing or amount of the Bank’s future cash flows is expected to change
as a result of the contract), it is probable that the Bank will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled
in exchange for the services that will be transferred to the customer and when specific criteria have been met
for each of the Bank’s contracts with customers.

The Bank bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement. In evaluating whether collectability of an amount of
consideration is probable, the Bank considers only the customer’s ability and intention to pay that amount of
consideration when it is due.
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NATIONAL: BANK OF GREECE (CYPRLUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

‘Revenue (continued)

Identification of performance obligations

The Bank assesses whether contracts that involve the provision of a range of services contain one or more
performance obligations (that is, distinct promises to provide a service) and allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation identified on the basis of its stand-alone selling price. A service that is promised
to a customer is distinct if the customer can benefit from the service, either on its own or together with other
resources that are readily available 1o the customer (that is the service is capable of being distinct) and the
Bank’s promise to fransfer the service to the customer is separately identifiable from other promises in the
contract (that is, the service is distinct within the context of the contract).

Fee and commission income

Fee and commission income is recognised over time on a straight line basis as the services are rendered,
when the customer simulitaneously receives and consumes the benefiis provided by the Bank’s performance.,
Such income includes recurring fees for account maintenance, account servicing fees, guarantee issue fee
and agency fee income whereby the Bank acts as an agent of a third party in entering and completing a
transaction on pre-determined terms and conditions.

Fee and commission income is recognised at a point in time when the Bank satisfies its performance
obligation, usuvally upon execution of the underlving transaction. The amount of fee or commission received
or receivable represents the transaction price for the services identified as distinct performance obligations.
Such income includes fees for processing payment transactions, fees for cash settlements and collection of
cash disburserents.

Renial income

Rental income arising on operating leases is recognised on a siraight-line basis over the lease term.

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

The Bank is the lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Bank, with limited exceptions as set out below.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Bank has elected not to separate lease and
non-lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease compenent. The Bank allocates the
consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Bank is the lessee (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

#  variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

=« amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

¢ the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. Since that rate cannot be
readily determined, the NBG Group incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the Group would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Bank:

¢  where possible, uses recent third-party financing received as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received,
o  makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of

the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

= the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
any initial direct costs; and

restoration costs.

Any remeasurement of the lease liability arising if the cash flows change based on the original terms and
conditions of the lease results in a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset. The adjustment can
be positive or negative.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. While the Bank revalues its land and buildings that
are presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings

held by the Bank.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continned)

The Bank is the lessee (continued)

In determining the lease term, management of the Bank considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options
(or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain
to be extended (or not terminated). The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not
exercised) or the Bank becomes obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable
certainty is only revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumsiances occurs, which affects
this assessment, and that is within the control of the Bank.

Right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment in accordance with the Bank’s accounting policy for
impairment of non-financial assets.

As an exception to the above, payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-value assets
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less.

Right-of-use assets and associated lease liabilities are presented as separate lines on the face of the balance
sheet.

There are no lease where the Bank is the lessor.

Initial recognition of financial instroments

Financial instruments at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value. All other financial instruments are
initially recorded at fair value adjusted for transaction costs.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The best evidence of fair value is price
in an active market. An active market is one in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with
sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. Fair value of financial
instruments traded in an active market is measured as the product of the quoted price for the individual
asset or liability and the quantity held by the entity. This is the case even if a market’s normal daily trading
volume is not sufficient to absorb the quantity held and placing orders to sell the position in a single
wansaction might affect the quoted price.

Fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial
recognition is only recorded if there is a difference between fair value and transaction price which can be
evidenced by other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation
technique whose inputs include only data from observable markets. After the initial recognition, an ECL
allowance is recognised for financial assets measured at AC and investments in debt instruments measured
ai FVOCT, resulting in an immmediate accounting loss.

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established by
regulation or market convention (“regular way™ purchases and sales) are recorded at trade date, which is
the date on which the asset is delivered to the Group. All other purchases are recognised when the entity
becomes a parfy 1o the contractual provisions of the instrument. Any change in fair value of the assets
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or at other comprehensive income to be
received during the period between the trade date and the settlement date is recognised in profit or loss and
in OCI, respectively. However changes in the fair value of assets carried at amortized cost between trade
date and settlement date are not recognized.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets — Classification
The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

= those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss), and
» those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification and subsequent measurement of debt financial assets depends on: (i) the Bank’s business
model for managing the related assets portfolio and (ii) the cash flow characteristics of the asset. On initial
recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a debt financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements
to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, classification will depend on whether the
Bank has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). This election is made on an investment-by-

investment basis.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losscs will cither be recorded in profit or loss or OCIL. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Bank has
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

Financial assets - Recognition and derecognition

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established by
regulation or market convention (“regular way” purchases and sales) are recorded at trade date, which is the
date when the Bank commits to deliver a financial instrument. All other purchases and sales are recognized
when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrurment.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial assets — Measurement

At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit
or loss. Fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial
recognition is only recorded if there is a difference between fair value and transaction price which can be
evidenced by other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique
whose inputs include only data from observable markets.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their
cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Bank’s business mode! for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Bank classifies all of its debt instruments at amortised cost.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets — Measnrement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

Under the amortised cost measurement category, assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in interest income. Any gain -or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the income

‘statement. Financial assets measured at amortised cosi (AC) comprise: cash and cash equivalents, bank

deposits with original maturity over 3 months, L.oans and advances to customers, Deposrcs with Banks, Cash
Balances with Central Bank and Financial Assets at amoritsed cost.

Equiry instruments

The Bank subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Bank’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment,
any related balance within the FVOCI reserve is reclassified to retained earnings. The Bank’s policy is to
designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for strategic purposes other than
solely to generate investment returns. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit
or loss as other income when the Bank’s right 1o receive pavments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised in “other gainsi (losses)” in the income
statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity ‘investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Financial assets — impairment — credit loss allowance for Expected Credit Loss (ECL)

The Bank assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL for all financial assets measured at AC and for the
exposure arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Bank measures ECL and
recognises credit loss allowance at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects: (i) an unbiased
and probability weighied amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, (if) time
value of money and (iii) all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost and
effort at the end of each reporting period about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
conditions.

The carrying amount of the financial assets is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement within “credit losses on other financial assets™ and
“credit gains/losses on loans and advances to customers™.

Debt instruments, loans and advances to customers and other financial assets measured at AC are presented
in the balance sheet net of the allowance for ECL. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts,
a separate provision for ECL is recognised as a [iability in the balance sheet.

For debt instruments at FVOCI, an allowance for ECL is recognised in profif or loss and it affects fair value
gains or Iosses recognised in OCI rather than the carrying amount of those instruments.

For all financial assets that are subject to impairment under IFRS 9, the Bank applies the general approach —
three stage model for impairment. The Bank applies a three stage model for impairment, based on changes
in credit quality since initial recognition. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial
recognition is classified in Stage 1. Financial assets in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at-an amount equal
1o the portion of lifetime ECL that results from default events possible within the next 12 months or until
contractual manirity, if shorter (“12 Months ECL™).
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets — impairment — credit loss allowance for Expected Credit Loss (ECL) (continued)

If the Bank identifies a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) since initial recognition, the asset is
transferred to Stage 2 and its ECL is measured based on ECL. on a lifetime basis, that is, up until contractual
maturity but considering expected prepayments, if any (“Lifetime ECL”). Refer to Note 39, Credit risk
section for a description of how the Bank determines when a SICR has occurred. 1f the Bank determines that
a financial asset is credit-impaired, the asset is transferred to Stage 3 and its ECL is measured as a Lifetime
ECL. The Bank’s definition of credit impaired assets and definition of default is explained in Note 39, Credit

risk section.
Financial assets — Reclassification

Financial instruments are reclassified only when the business model for managing those assets changes. The
reclassification has a prospective effect and takes place from the start of the first reporting period following

the change.

Financial assets — write-off

Financial assets are written-off, in whole or in part, when the Bank has exhausted all practical recovery efforts
and has concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The write-off represents a
derecognition event. The Bank may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity
when the Bank seeks to recover amounts that are contractually due, however, there is no reasonable

expectation of recovery.

Financial assets — modification

The Bank sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual terms of the tinancial assets. The
Bank assesses whether the modification of contractual cash flows is substantial considering, among other,
the following factors: any new contractual terms that substantially affect the risk profile of the asset (eg profit
share or equity-based return), significant change in interest rate, change in the currency denomination, new
collateral or credit enhancement that significantly affects the credit risk associated with the asset or a
significant extension of a loan when the borrower is not in financial difficulties.

If the modified terms are substantially different, the rights to cash flows from the original asset expire and
the Bank derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a new asset at its fair value. The date of
renegotiation is considered to be the date of initial recognition for subsequent impairment calculation
purposes, including determining whether a SICR has occurred. The Bank also assesses whether the new loan
or debt instrument meets the SPPI criterion. Any difference between the carrying amount of the original asset
derecognised and fair value of the new substantially modified asset is recognised in profit or loss, unless the
substance of the difference is attributed to a capital transaction with owners.

In a situation where the renegotiation was driven by financial difficulties of the counterparty and inability to
make the originally agreed payments, the Bank compares the original and revised expected cash flows to
assets whether the risks and rewards of the asset are substantially different as a result of the contractual
modification. If the risks and rewards do not change, the modified asset is not substantially different from
the original asset and the modification does not result in derecognition. The Bank recalculates the gross
carrying amount by discounting the modified contractual cash flows by the original effective interest rate,
and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
Year ended 31 December 2020

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Int the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject 1o an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes
of the statement of cash flows, consist of balances with less than three months maturity, including cash,
unrestricted balances with central bank and amounts due from other banks.

Funds restricted for a period of more than three months on origination are excluded from cash and cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are carried ai AC because: (i) they are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and those cash flows represent SPPI, and (ii) they are not designated at FVTPL.

Interest income and expense calculated using the effeciive interest method

Interest income for all financial assets carried at amortised cost and all debrt financial assets cartied at fair
value through other comprehensive income is recognised in the profit or loss using the effective interest
method. Interest expense for all interest bearing financial instruments is recognised in profit or loss using the
effective interest method.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or a shorter period, if appropriate, to the gross

carrving amount of a financial asset (i.e. excluding future credit losses) or to the amortised cost of a financial

liability. The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at
initial recognition minus the principal repavments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the

-effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount and, for

financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate discounts cash flows of variable interest instruments to the next interest repricing
date, except for the premium or discount, which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate specified in
the instrument, or other variables that are not reset to market rates. Such premiums or discounts are amortised
over the whole expected life of the instrument.

The effective interest calculation does not cousider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs,
premjums or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such
as origination fees.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired (“POCI”) financial assets — assets that are credit impaired at
initial recognition, the Bank calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is calculated based
on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact
of expected credit losses in estimated future cash flows. '

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of financial
assets, except for:

(a) POCI financial assets, for which the original credit-adjusted effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost of the financial assets; and

(b) Financial assets that are not “POCI” but have subsequently become credit-impaired (or “stage 3*), for
which interest income is calculated using the effective interest rate to their amortised cost (i.e. net of the
expected credit loss provision).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Interest income and expense calculated using the effective interest method {(continued)

When applying the effective interest method, the Bank amortises any fees, points paid or received, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts that are included in the calculation of the effective interest rate over
the expected life of the financial instrument. However, a shorter period is used if this is the period to which
the fees, points paid or received, transaction costs, premiums or discounts relate. This will be the case when
the variable to which the fees, points paid or received, transaction costs, premiums or discounts relate is
repriced to market rates before the expected maturity of the financial instrument. In such a case, the
appropriate amortisation period is the period to the next such repricing date.

Transaction costs include fees and commission paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by
regulatory agencies and security exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include
debt premiums or discounts, financing costs or internal administrative or holding costs.

Commitment fees received by the Bank to originate loans at market interest rates are integral to the effective
interest rate if it is probable that the Bank will enter into a specific lending arrangement and does not expect
to sell the resulting loan shortly after origination. The Bank does not designate loan commitments as financial

liabilities at FVTPL.

Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) and at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Dividends are recognised as other income in profit
or loss when the right to receive payment is established. This applies even if they are paid out of pre-
acquisition profits, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of an investment. In
this case, the dividend is recognised in OCI if it relates to an investment measured at FVOCI.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder of the guarantee for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial
institutions and others on behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafis and other banking facilities.

Financial guarantees are recognised as a financial liability at the time the puarantee is issued. Financial
guarantees are initially recognised at their fair value, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees
received. This amount is amortised on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee in other income in

profit or loss.

At the end of each reporting period, the guarantee is subsequently at the higher of:

» the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with the expected credit loss model under
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and

=  the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of IFRS 15 Revernue from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the present value of the difference in cash flows
between the contractual payments required under the debt instrument and the payments that would be
required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for assuming
the obligations.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Credit related commitments

The Bank issues commitments to provide loans. Commitments to provide loans are initially recognised at
their fair value, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees received. Such loan commitment fees are
deferred and included in the carrying amount of the loan on initial recognition. Loan commitments provided
by the Bank are measured as the amount of the loss allowance calculated under IFRS 9.

At the end of each reporting period, the commitments are measured at

{i) the remaining unamortised balance of the amount at initial recognition, plus
(ii) the amount of the loss allowance determined based on the expected credit loss model.

For loan commitments (where those components can be separated from the loan), a separate provision for
ECL is recognised as a liability in the statement of financial position. However, for contracts that include
both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Bank cannot separately identifv the expected credit losses
on the undrawn commitment component from those on the loan component, the expected credit losses on the
undrawn commitment are recognised together with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the
combined expected credit losses exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the expected credit losses are
recognised as a provision.

Financial liabilities — measurement categories

Financial Jiabilities are initially recognised at fair value and classified as subsequently measured at amortised
cost, except for (i) financial liabilities at FVTPL: this classification is applied io derivatives, financial
liabilities held for trading (e.g. short po'sitions in securities), contingent consideration recognised bv an
acquirer in a business combination and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognmon and
(ii) financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.

Offsetting financial instruoments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realize the assat and settle the liability simultaneously. The legallv enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Bank or the counterparty.

Sales and repurchase agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a spec1ﬁc future date (“repos™) continue to be recorded in
the Bank’s balance sheet while the counterparty liability is included in amounts due 1o other banks or due to
customiers, as appropriate. The difference between the sale price and repurchase price is recognised as interest
expense during the repurchase agreement period using the effective interest rate method.

‘Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on valuations by external independent valuers, less
subsequent depreciation for buildings. Revaliations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the
carrving amounts do no differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the balance
sheet date. Any accumulaied depreciation af the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited in other
comprehensive income and shown as revaluation reserve in shareholders’ equity. Decreases that offset
previous increases of the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited against
revaluation reserve directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to profit or loss.

The property revaluation reserve includes revaluation of property initially used by the Bank for its operations
and subsequently transferred to investment properties.

On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property, the aftributable revaluation surplus remaining in
the properties revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings. No transfer is made from the
revaluation reserve to retained earnings except when an assct is derecognised.

Furniture and equipment and motor vehicles are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than land over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

The annual depreciation rates used are as follows:

Buildings and installations 31020
Furniture and equipment 10t0 20
Motor vehicles 20

No depreciation is charged on land.

An asset’s carrying amount is writien down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Expenditure for repairs and maintepance of property, plant and equipment is charged to the income
statement of the year in which they were incurred. The cost of major renovations and other subsequent
expenditure are included in the carrying amount of the asset or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and

the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment property

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including property
under construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initjal recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value as at
the reporting date. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise. Valuations are carried out by independent
qualified valuers applying valuation models.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Computer software

Costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique computer software products controlled by
the Bank and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year are recognised
as intangible assets. Subsequently computer software is carried at cost less any accumulated amortization
and any accumulated impairment losses.

Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of computer software programmer bevond their
original specifications is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the computer
software. Costs associated with maintenance of computer sofiware programmer are charged io the income
statement of the vear in which they were incurred.

Computer software costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimaied useful lives, not
exceeding a period of three years. Amortisation commences when the computer software is available for
use.

Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events relating to charges to circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. I the carrving amount exceeds the recoverable amount,
then the intangible assets are written down 1o their recoverable amount.

Useful economic lives and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Inipa_irment of non financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately. identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). Non-financial assets that have suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits
The Bank and the employees contribute to a defined contributions scheme.

Under the defined contributions scheme the Bank and members of staff pay tixed contributions into a
separate provident fund. The Bank’s contributions are recognised in the period they relate to and included
in staff costs in the income statement. The Bank has no firrther payment obligations once the contributions

have been paid.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Bank before the normal retirement
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Bank
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Bank can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognizes costs for a restructuring that is
within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to their present value.

Current and deferred income tax

Current income tax
Income tax payable/(receivable) is calculated on the basis of the applicable tax law in the respective

jurisdiction and is recognised as an expense/(income) for the period except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the country in which the Bank operates and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax

regulation is subject to interpretation.

If applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation, it establishes provision where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Where tax losses can be relieved only by carry-forward against taxable profits of future periods a deductible
temporary difference arises. Those losses carried forward are set off against deferred tax liabilities carried

in the balance sheet.

The Bank does not offsct current income tax liabilities and current income tax assets.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred

income tax liability is settled.

Temporary differences arise from depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of
computer software.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that is measured at fair value is determined
assuming the property will be recovered entirely through sale.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued;
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The tax effects of carry-forward of unused losses or unused tax credits are recognised as an asset when it
is probable that fumure taxable profits will be available against which these losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax related to items recognised in other comprehensive income, is also recognised in other
comprehensive income:

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the Bank where there is an intention to setile the
balances on a net basis.

Special levy

According to the “Special Levy on Credit Institutions Law of 2011 to 2015”, special levy is imposed on
credit institutions on a quarterly basis, at the rate of 0,0375% on 31% December, 31% March, 30% June and
30% September on qualifving deposits held by each credit institution. The special levy is included in other
operating expenses, Note 14.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments include foreign exchange forward contracts, These instruments are initially
recognised at fair value and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Derivative financial instruments
are recognised as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.
Changes in the fair value of derivative assets and derivative liabilities are included in net profit or loss for
the period.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has: (a) a present obligation (legal or constructive) arising from
past events, (b) it is probable that the obligation will result in an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits, and (c) a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. '

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expectad 10 be required to setile the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
gxpense.

Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties and employee termination payments, and are
recognised in the period in which the Bank becomes legally or constructively committed to payment. Costs
related to the ongoing activities of the Bank are not provided in advance. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Share ca.pital '
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
1ax, from the proceeds.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Other liabilities

Other liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.

Deposits from banks and deposits from customers

Deposits from banks and deposits from customers are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in interest expense in the income statement using the
effective interest rate method. Deposits from banks and deposits from customers are derecognised when they
are extinguished, that is, when the obligation in discharged.

Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Bank has control. The Bank controls
an entity when the Bank is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less impairment. Investments in subsidiaries are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised through the income statement for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. An impairment loss recognised in prior years is reversed where appropriate if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

Related party transactions

Related parties include the parent and ultimate controlling party, fellow subsidiaries, other group companies
under common control, directors and key management personnel, their close families, companies owned or
controlled by them and companics whose financial and operating policies they can influence. Transactions of
similar nature within the same category are disclosed on an aggregated basis.

Comparatives

Except when a standard or an interpretation permits or requires otherwise, all amounts are reported or disclosed
with comparative information. Where applicable, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with
changes in presentation in the current year.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

At the date of approval of these financial statements a number of new standards, interpretations and amendments
to existing standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2020 and have not been early
applied in preparing these financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the
financial statements of the Bank, except the following set out below:

. Classification of liabilities as current or non-current, deferral of effective date — Amendments to IAS 1
(issued on 15 July 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). The
amendment to IAS 1 on classification of liabilities as current or non-current was issued in January 2020
with an original effective date 1 January 2022. However, in response to the Covid-19 pandemic, the
effective date was deferred by one year to provide companies with more time to implement classification
changes resulting from the amended guidance. The Bank is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments on its financial statements and as of the date of issue of these financial statements the impact
of the amendments is not known/ or reasonably estimable.
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. Classification of liabilities as current or non-current — Amendments to TAS 1 (issued on 23 January 2020
and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022). These narrow scope amendments
clarifv that liabilities are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights that exist at
the end of the reporting period. Liabilities are non-current if the entity has a substantive right, at the end
of the reporting period, to defer setilement for at least twelve months. The guidance no longer requires
such a right to be unconditional. Management’s expectations whether they will subsequently exercise the
right to defer settlement do not affect classification of liabilities. The right to defer only exists if the entity
complies with any relevant conditions as of the end of the reporting period. A liability is classified as
current if a condition is breached at or before the reporting date even if a waiver of that condition is
obtained from the lender after the end of the reporting peried. Conversely, a loan is classified as non-
current if a loan covenant is breached only after the reporting date. In addition, the amendments include
clarifying the classification requirements for debt a company might setfle bv converting it into equity.
‘Settlement’ is defined as the extinguishment of a liability with cash, other resources embodying economic
benefits or an entity’s own equity instruments. There is an exception for convertible instruments that
might be converted into equity, but only for those instruments where the conversion option is classified
as an equity -instrument as a separate component of a compound financial instrument. The Bank is
currently assessing the impact of the amendments on its financial statements and as of the date of issue of
‘these financial statements the impact of the amendments is not known' or reasonably estimable.

) Interest rate benchmark (IBOR) reform — phase 2 amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16 (issued on 27 August 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021). The Phase 2 amendments address issues that arise from the implementation of the reforms,
including the replacement of one benchmark with an alternative one. The amendments cover the following
areas:

- Accounting for changes in the basis for determining contractual cash flows as a result of [IBOR
reform: For instruments to which the amortised cost measurement applies, the amendments
require entities, as a practical expedient, to account for a change in the basis for determining
the contractual cash flows as a result of IBOR reform by updating the effective interest rate
using the guidance in paragraph B5.4.5 of IFRS 9. As a result, no immediate gain or loss is
recognised. This practical expedient applies only to such a change and only to the extent it is
necessary as a direct consequence of IBOR reform, and the new basis is economically
equivalent to the previous basis. Insurers applying the temporary exemption from IFRS 9 are
also required to apply the same practical expedient. IFRS 16 was also amended to require
lessees to use a similar practical expedient when accounting for lease modifications that change
the basis for determining future lease payments as a result of IBOR reform.

- End date for Phase 1 relief for non contractually specified risk components in hedging
relationships: The Phase 2 amendinenis require an entity 10 prospectively cease to apply the
Phase 1 reliefs 10 a non-contractually specified risk component at the earlier of when changes
are made to the non-contractually specified risk component, or when the hedging relationship
is discontinued. No end date was provided in the Phase 1 amendments for risk components.

- Additional temporary exceptions from applying specific hedge accounting requirements: The
Phase 2 amendments provide some additional temporary reliefs from applying specific IAS 39
and IFRS 9 hedge accounting requirements to hedging relationships directly affected by IBOR
reform. :

- Additional IFRS 7 disclosures related to IBOR reform: The amendments require disclosure of:
(1) how the entity is managing the transition to alternative benchmark rates, its progress and the
risks arising from the transition; (ii) quantitative information about derivatives and non-
derivatives that have vetto transition, disaggregated by significant interest rate benchmark; and
(iii) a description of any changes to the risk management strategy as a result of IBOR reform.

The Bank is currently assessi_ng the impact of the amendments on its financial statements and as of the date of
issue of these financial statements the impact of the amendments is not known/ or reasonably estimable.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

In the preparation of the financial statements the management of the Bank is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates and may cause a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and fisture periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of asscts and liabilities within
the next financial vear. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management’s
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in
the process of applying the accounting policies. Judgements that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:

Expected credit loss measurement (ECL)

Measurement of ECLs is a significant estimate that involves determination of methodology, models and data
inputs. Details of ECL measurement methodology are disclosed in Note 39. The following components have
a major impact under each segment on credit loss allowance: definition of defauit, significant increase in
credit risk (“SICR”), probability of default (“PD™), and loss given default (“LGD™), as well as models of
macro-economic scenarios. The Bank regularly reviews and validates the models and inputs to the models to
reduce any differences between expected credit loss estimates and actual credit loss experience.

In assessing LGDs for secured exposures, the Bank considers the range of relevant risk drivers, including:
collateral type, geography (location of the collateral) and seniority of the lending exposure. Management
exercises its judgement in determining the relevant valuation collateral haircuts used to determine the
collateral values for LGD calculation and applied to consider liquidity and quality of pledged assets. When
the collateral values exceed the individual credit exposures, the minimum LGD floor is applied for the
measurement of ECL.

In its collective assessment model, the Bank uses loan to value (LTV) buckets in order to assign an LGD for
each bucket. As at 31 December 2020, if all loans were downgraded by 1 LTV bucket, this would have
resulted in additional expected credit losses on loans and advances to customers of €0,6 million (2019: €0,4

million).
Macroeconomic Scenarios used in ECL measurement

The Bank determines the ECL, which is a probability-weighted amount by evaluvating a range of possible
outcomes. Management uses forward-looking scenarios and assesses the suitability of weights used. These
are based on management’s assumptions taking into account macroeconomic, market and other factors.
Changes in these assumptions and in the external factors could significantly impact ECL. Macrocconomic
inputs and weights per scenario are based on external market data.

Qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made when inputs calculated do not capture all the
characteristics of the market. These are reviewed and adjusted if considered necessary by the Bank’s
Management. No qualitative adjustments or overlays were made as at the reporting date.

Economic and credit conditions within geographical areas are influenced by many factors with a high degree
of interdependency so that there is no one single factor to which the Bank’s ECL as a whole is particularly
sensitive. The Bank uses three different economic scenarios.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

Macroeconomic Scenarios used in ECL measurement (continued)

The most significant pericd - end assumptions relatively to macroeconomic scenarios used for the ECL
estimate for the vear 2020 are set out below.

The scenarios "base”, "optimistic” and "adverse” were used for all portfolios.

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
A, Mortgages and
Consumer loans
ELR Billions
Consumption Base 33 3.6 3,7 38 3.8
Optimistic 35 3,7 38 4,0 4,0
Adverse 34 34 3,5 3,5 3,5
%
HICP Base 2,0 1,0 1,7 1.8 1,8
Optimistic 2,6 1,6 22 2.2 2.2
Adverse 0.5 0,3 1,2 L3 L5
%
Unemployment Base 7,9 7.2 6,8 6.4 6,4
Optimistic 7.2 6,5 6.2 5.8 S8
Adverse 8.8 8,1 7.5 6,9 6,9
%
B. Corporate loans
GDP Base 4.0 3,6 3,2 2,6 2,6
Optimistic 52 4,4 39 a3 33
Adverse 2,0 1,8 1,7 1,7 1,7
Yo
CPPI Base -1,2 0.1 0,8 1,0 1,0
Optimistic 0.4 1,3 1,9 2,3 2,3

Adverse -3,2 -1,6 -0,5 0,2 a,2



NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

Macroeconomic Scenarios used in ECL measurement (continued)

The most significant year-end assumptions relating to macroeconomic scenarios used for the ECL estimate
for the year 2019 are set out below. The scenarios "base”, "optimistic” and "adverse" were used for all

portfolios.

Year
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Mortgages and Consumer
loans
€ Billions
Consumption Base 34 35 36 3.6 3.6
Optimistic 35 36 36 3.6 36
Adverse 33 34 35 35 35
%
Harmonised Index of Base 1,7 1,8 1.8 1.8 1,8
Consumer Prices (HICP) Optimistic 2 1,9 1,9 1,9 1,9
Adverse 08 1,3 1,6 1,6 1,6
%
Unemployment Base 9,2 8,5 7.9 7.9 7.9
Optimistic 8.2 7.7 7.3 7.3 7,3
Adverse 10 9 83 8.3 83
Corporate loans
%
Gross Domestic Product Base 2,2 2,2 2,2 22 2,2
(GDP} Optimistic 2,7 2,5 2,3 2,3 2,3
Adverse 1,6 1,9 2,1 2,1 2.1
%
Commercial Property Base 22 2,4 2,5 2.5 2,5
Price Index (CPPI) Optimistic 2,7 2.6 2,6 2.6 2.6
Adverse 1 1,6 2,1 21 2,1

The weightings assigned to each economic scenario as at 31 December 2020 were as follows:

Base Optimistic Adverse
Loans and Advances to Customers 50% 20% 30%

As at 31 December 2020, if the scenarios weights were changed as per the table below, this would have
resulted in additional expected credit losses on the loans and advances to customers of €0,07 million.

Base Optimistic Adverse
50% 10% 40%

As at 31 December 2020, if the scenarios weights were changed as per the below table below, this would
have resulted in additional expected credit losses on the loans and advances to customers of €0,09 million.

Base Optimistic Adverse
50% 5% 45%
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTEING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)
Macroeconomic Scenarios used in ECL measurement (continued)

The weightings assigned to each economic scenarios as at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Base Optimistic Adverse
Loans and Advances to Customers 45% 35% 20%

As at 31 December 2019, if the scenarios weights were changed as per the table below, this would have
resulted in additional expected credit losses on the loans and advances to customers of €0,03 million.

Base Optimistic Adverse
45% 25% 30%

As at 31 December 2019, if the scenarios weights were changed as per the below table below, this would
have resulted in additional expected credit losses on the loans and advances to customers of €0,05 million.

Base Optimistic Adverse
45% 20% 35%

As at 31 December 2019, if the scenarios weights were changed as per the below table below, this would
have resuited in additional expected credit losses on the loans and advances to customers of €0,02 million.

Base Optimistic Adverse
55% 20% 25%

As at 31 December 2020, if unemployment and consumption were changed as per the below tabulated
scenarios, this would have resulted in additional expected credit losses on the mortgages and consumer loan
portfolios as per the iable below:

Mortgapes and Consemer loans

Consumption
-11,1% No change -28,2%
2% -19.949 - -
Unemployment No Change - - -
5% . - 39.397
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

Macroeconomic Scenarios used in ECL measurement (continued)
As at 31 December 2020, if unemployment and Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices (HICP) were
changed as per the below tabulated scenarios, this would have resulted in additional expected credit losses

on the mortgages and consumer loans and advances to customers as the table below:

Mortgages and Consumer loans

HiCcp
-5,2% No change -13,8%
2% 20.907 : -
Unemployment No Change - - -
5% - - 42.197

As at 31 December 2020, if Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and Commercial Property Price Index (CPPI})
were changed as per the below tabulated scenaria, this wounld have resulted in additional expected credit
losses on the corporate portfolios as per the table below:

Corporate loans

CPPI
-3,.2% No change -5,2%
-8% 33.988 - -
GDP No Change - - -
-15% - - 64.675

As at 31 December 2019, if unemployment and consumption were changed as per the below tabulated
scenarios, this would have resulted in additional/(reduced) expected credit losses on the mortgages and
consumer loan portfolios as per the table below:

Mortgages and Consumer loans

Consumption
3,10% No Change -3,10%
-5% -11.523 - -
Unemployment No Change - - -
5% z * 377.875

As at 31 December 2019, if unemployment and Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices (HICP) were
changed as per the below tabulated scenarios, this would have resulted in additional/{reduced) expected
credit losses on the mortgages and consumer loans and advances to customers as the table below:

Mortgages and Consumer loans

HICP
2,10% No Change -2,10%
-5% -34.525 . .
Unemployment No Change - - -
59, - - 138.316
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5,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

Macroeconomic Scenarios used in ECL measurement (continued)

As at 31 December 201 9, if Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and Commercial Property Price Index (CPPI)
were changed as per the below tabulated scenarios, this would have resulted in additional/(reduced)

expected credit losses on the corporate portfolios as per the table below:

Corporate loans

CPP1
2,10% No Change ~-2,10%
2% -20.882 - -
GDP No Change - - .
-2% - - 283.175

Significant increase in credit visk 1“SICR”)

IFRS 9 does not include a definition of significant increase in credit risk. The Bank assesses whether
significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition using predominantly quantitative and
in certain cases qualitative information. The determination of the relevant thresholds to determine whether a
significant increase in credit risk has occurred, involves management judgement.

In order to determine whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Bank compares the risk
of a default occurring over the life of a financial instrument a1 the end of the reporting date with the risk of
default at the date of initial recognition. The assessment considers relative increase in credit risk rather than
achieving a specific level of credit risk at the end of the reporting period. The Bank considers all reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information availabie without undue cost and effort, which includes a range
of non-financial factors used for the determination of the internal credit risk of the borrower.,

Expected lifetime of revolving facilities

Judgement is exercised on the measurement period of expected lifetime for revolving facilities. The Bank
exercises judgement in determining the period over which ECL should be computed, on the basis of historical
experience with respect to the typical average life of such facilities.

Business model assessment

The business model drives classification of financial assets. Management applied judgement in determining
the level of aggregation and portfolios of financial instruments when performing the business model
assessment.

When assessing sales transactions, the Bank considers their historical frequency, timing and value, reasons
for the saies and expectations about future sales activity. Sales transactions aimed at minimizing potential
losses due to credit deterioration are considered consistent with the “hold 1o collect” business model. Other
sales before maturity, not related to credit risk management activities, are also consistent with the “held to
collect™ business model, provided that they are infrequent or insignificant in value, both individually and in
aggregate. The Bank assesses significance of sales transactions by comparing the value of the sales to the
value of the portfolio subject to the business model assessment over the average life of the portfolio. In
addition, sales of financial asset expected only in a stress case scenario, or in response to an isolated event
that is beyond the Bank’s control, is not recurring and could not have been anticipated by the Bank, are
regarded as incidental to the business model objective and do not impact the classification of the respective
financial assets.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

Business model assessment (continued)

The “hold to collect and sell” business model means that assets are held to collect the cash flows, but selling
is also integral to achieving the business model’s objective, such as, managing liquidity needs, achieving a
particular yield, or matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that fund
those assets.

The residual category includes those portfolios of financial assets, which are managed with the objective
of realising cash flows primarily through sale, such as where a pattern of trading exists. Collecting
contractual cash flow is often incidental for this business model.

Fair value of financial instruments

The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market. The fair value of shares and
other financial instruments that are not quoted in an active market is determined using valuation models.

Certain financial instruments are valued on the basis of valuation techniques that feature one or more
significant inputs that are not cbservable. Valuation techniques that rely on non-observable inputs require
a higher level of management judgement to calculate a fair value than those based wholly on observable
inputs. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could affect the fair value of the relevant financial

instruments,

More information on changes in the fair value of bonds, shares and other financial instruments is disclosed
in Note 39,

Income taxes

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Bank recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

If the final result of the tax statement of the Bank varied by 30% (2019: 30%) from management’s
expectations due to the uncertainties in the tax treatment of these issues, there would be no significant
change in the current tax liabilities because the Bank maintains a significant amount of tax losses which

can be utilized against it.

Deferred tax assets are recognised by the Bank in respect of tax losses to the extent that is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level
of future taxable profits, together with future tax-planning strategies. These variables have been established
on the basis of significant management judgement and are subject to uncertainty. It is possible that the
actual future events could be different from the assumptions made, resulting in material adjustment to the
carrying amount of deferred tax assets.

The assumptions with greater influence on deferred tax are disclosed in Note 15.

Fair value of properties held for own use and investment properties

The properties held by the Bank for own use as well as the investment properties, are measured at fair value
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Fair value is determined from valuations undertaken
by professionally qualified valuers based on market signals for their existing use and is carried out at regular
intervals so that the carrying amount does not differ materially from fair value.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTTMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)
Fair value of properties held for own use and investment properties (continued).

In arriving at their estimates of the fair values of properties, the valuers use their market knowledge and
professional judgement and do not rely solely on historical {ransactional comparable, taking into
consideration that there is a greater degree of uncertainty than that which exists in a more active market.
Depending on the nature of the underlying asset and available market information, the determination of the
fair value of property may require the use of estimates such as fiture cash flows from assets and discount
rates. applicable to those assets. All these estimates are based on local market conditions existing at the
reporting date.

If the estimated value per square meter used in the calculations for the properties held for own use was
reduced by 15% the value of the properties would be €1,4m (2019: €1,5m) lower, with an equivalent impact
in the income statement.

If the estimated value per square meter used in the calculations for investment properties was reduced by
15% the value of the building would have been €0,6m (2019: €0,6m) lower, with an equivalent i impact in
the income statement.

More information on inputs used is disclosed in Notes 24 and 26.

. Determination of the lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a terminaiion option. Extension options {or periods
after termination options) are only includéd in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended

(or not terminated).

For property leases, the following factors are normally the most relevant:

° If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the Bank is t;\"pically reasonably certain

to extend (or not terminate).

. If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remain'ing'\'alue, the Bank is

typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate).

. Otherwise, the Bank considers other factors including hlstoncal lease durations and the costs and

business disruption required to replace the leased asset.

Most extension 0pt10n5 in offices and branches leases have been included in the lease liability, because the

Bank could not replace the assets without significant cost or business disruption.

The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Bank becomes obliged
to exercise (or not exercise) it, The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant event
or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within the control

of the lessee.
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6. INTEREST INCOME

2020 2019

€ €

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 8.525.359 10.711.776
Deposits with banks and central bank at amortised cost 1.066.351 1.375.941
Investment in bonds at amortised cost (Note 23) 1.765.819 1.379.008
11.357.529 13.466.725

Interest income from loans and advances to customers includes interest on the net carrying amount of impaired

loans and advances to customers amounting to € 1.807.255 (2019: €1.745.592).

7. INTEREST EXPENSE

2020 2019
€ €
Deposits and other customer accounts at amotised cost 556.904 1.418.985
Deposits from banks at amortised cost 30.238 215.089
587.142 1.634.074

8. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
2020 2019
€ €
Fees 824,432 1.058.664
Commissions 2.886.774 2.775.947
3.711.206 3.834.611

The Bank’s fee and commission income are primarily recognised at a point in time.

9.  NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS

Net foreign exchange gains comprises the translation of monetary assets in foreign currency at the end of the
reporting period, realised exchange gains or losses from transactions in foreign currency which have been
settled during the year and the revaluation of foreign exchange derivatives.
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10. OTHER INCOME

2020 2019

€ €

Dividend income 124.993 88.659
Other income 1.508.878 3.591.268
1.633.871 3.679.927

The “othier income™ during vear 2019 included a one-off income amounting to €2 million relating to the
compensation receivable by the Bank in relation to an expropriation of land owned by the Bank from the
Cyprus Government.

11. OTHER LOSSES

2020 2019
€ €
Loss on revaluation of investment property (Note 26) 164.500 202.000
Fair value loss on equity investments classified as fair value 7
through profit or loss 2.080 1.222
166.580 203.222
12, IMPATRMENT LOSSES ON OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
2020 2019
€ - €
Impairment loss/{reversal of impairment losses) on balances with (384.719) 132.313
banks — ECL
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment losses) on other financial (47.934) 37.168
assets at amortised cost — ECL
(432.653) 169.481
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13.

14.

STAFF COSTS
2020 2019
€ €
Salaries 11.847.740 11.758.191
Employer’s contributions 2.031.808 1.834.734
Provident fund contributions 1.124.907 1.077.897
Other staff expenses 450,244 494 447
15.454.699 15.165.269

The number of staff employed by the Bank as of 31 December 2020 was 246 (2019: 249). The average
number of staff employed by the Bank for 2020 was 247 (2019: 254).

The bank operates a defined contribution plan.

Based on the agreement signed in June 2014, the Bank’s contribution to the provident fund was 12%, which
was revised to 9,75% from January 2017.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2020 2019

€ €

Occupancy costs 484.250 451.129
Rentals 29.220 -
Advertising and marketing 148.234 321.812
Repairs and maintenance 1.059.956 1.096.073
Other operating expenses 2.414.311 1.355.796
Special levy on deposits (1) 856.733 909.100
4.992.704 4.133.910

(1) According to the “Special Levy on Credit Institutions Law of 2011 to 2015, special levy is imposed on
credit institutions on a quarterly basis, at the rate of 0,0375% on 31 December, 31* March, 30™ June
and 30% September on qualifying deposits held by each credit institution.

The total fees charged by the Bank’s statutory auditor for the statutory audit of the annual financial statements
of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to €45.000 exclusive of VAT (2019: €45.000
exclusive of VAT). The total fees charged by the Bank’s statutory auditor for the year ended 31 December:
2020 for other assurance services amounted to NIL {2019: €15.000, exclusive of VAT) and for tax advisory
services amounted to €3.000, exclusive of VAT (2019: €3.000, exclusive of VAT).
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15, INCOME TAX .

(a) “Tax recogmised in profit or loss:

2020 2019
€ €

Current tax:
- Corporation tax 1.206.848 5.000
- Withholding tax credit (refund) (1.923.907) -
Total current tax (717.059) 5.000
Deferred tax charge/(credit) 2,954,147 (67.417)
Total income tax charge/(credit) 2.237.088 (62. 417)

The tax on the Bank’s loss before the tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the applicable
tax rate as follows:

12020 2019
€ €
Loss before tax (7.193.850) (1.463.013)
Tax calculated at the applicable corporation tax rate of 12,5% (899.231) (182.877)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1.630.315 245487
Tax effect of allowances and income not subject to tax (252.089) (125.027)
Withholding tax credit (refund) (1.923.907) -
Impairment of deferred tax asset 3.682.000 -
Income tax charge/(credit) 2.237.088. - (62.417)

The Bank is subject to income tax on taxable profits, at the rate of 12,5%.
As from tax year 2012 brought forward losses of only five years may be utilised.

From ! January 2009 onwards, under certain conditions, interest may be exempt from income tax and be
subject only to special contribution for defence at the rate of 10%, mcreased 10 15% as from 31 August 2011,
and to 30% as from 29 April 2013.

In certain cases dividends received from abroad may be subject to special contribution for defence at the rate
of 15%; increased to 17% as from 31 August 2011; increased to 20% as from 1 Janvary 2012; reduced to 17%
as from 1 January 2014. In certain cases dividends received from 1 January 2012 onwards from other Cyprus
tax resident compames may also be subject to special contribution for defence.

Gains on disposal of quallfymg titles (including shares, bonds, debentures, nghts thereon etc) are exempt from
Cyprus income tax.
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15.

INCOME TAX (continued)

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

(b) Deferred income tax assets and liabilities

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration
the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Deferred income tax liabilities

At 1 January 2019
Charged to:
Profit or loss

At 31 December 2019/1 January 2020

Charged to:
Profit or loss

At 31 December 2020

Deferred income tax assets

At 1 January 2019
Credited to:
Profit or loss

At 31 December 2019/1 January 2020

Charged to:
Profit or loss

At 31 December 2020

Difference

between
depreciation Revaluation
and wear and  of land and

tear allowance buildings Total
€ € €
401.279 1.325936  1.727.215
91.080 - 91.080
492.359 1.325.936  1.818.295
4.938 4,988
497.347 1.325.936  1.823.283
Tax losses Total

€ €

6.268.900  6.268.900

158.498 158.498

6.427.398  6.427.398

(2.949.159) (2.949.159)
3.478.239  3.478.239

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The assessment of the recognition of a deferred tax
asset is a critical judgement, given the inherent uncertainties associated with projecting profitability over a long
time period. The Bank performed its assessment for the recoverability of the deferred tax asset as at 31 December
2020 and 31 December 2019 taking into account the Bank’s actual and historic performance, the key objectives
of the Bank’s strategy, the macroeconomic enviromment in Cyprus, the impact of tax legislations enacted as at
the reporting date and the detailed financial business plan approved by the Board, up to the end of 2025.
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15.

INCOME TAX (continued)
(b) Deferred income tax assets and liabilities (continued)

The financial projections have taken into account the key objectives of the Bank’s strategy which are set out
below:

¢  Manage the level of NPEs loans;

e Maintain an appropriate capital position by internally generating capital;
¢  Expansion in the Cyprus market; and

o  Deliver value to its sharehoider.

The key assumptions taken into consideration, amongst others, include the following:

¢ Increase in new loan originations mainly through referrals of the parent Bank;

»  Improvement in net interest income, mainly driven by the increase of loans to deposits ratio, reduction in
_the deposits cost and management of liquidity surplus;

» Increase in fee and commission income; and

¢  Sustainment of the cost of risk, supported by asset quality improvement and growth of the Cyprus economy.

The above assumptions are based on both internal and external information for attributing a value to each key
assumption in the deferred tax asset forecasts.

The internal key variables include, amongst others, the Bank’s ‘strategy, plans and planned actions for (i)
expansion of certain business lines and income streams, (ii) capital and liquidity management, (iii) cost
management, (iv) cost of fumding and (v) pricing of deposits and loans.

External key variables mainly include the interest rate evolution which impacts the business activity of the Bank,
the Cypriot macrocconomic performance unemployment levels, tourist industry and the changes in the
regulatory framework. '

The recoverability assessment performed at 31 December 2019 did not result in an impairment loss. The
recoverability assessment as at 31 December 2020 resulted in an impairment loss of €3,7 million as described
above.

The Bank has performed sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 on the following
key assumptions of DTA recoverability assessment for relevant years (depending on loss expiry dates). The
table below shows the impact on DTA carrying value from the below described sensitivity analysis.

Impact on deferred tax asset
carrving amount

2020 2019
€ €

Key assumption
Reduction of vield on customer loans and advances by 20 bps (169.389) {123.532)
Increase in cost of customer deposits by 20 bps (187.337) (277.327)
Lower new loans origination by 20% of the forecasted growth (392.573) (247.568)
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16.

CASH, BALANCES AND MANDATORY DEPOSITS WITH CENTRAL BANK OF CYPRUS

2020

€

Cash in hand 14.611.711
Balances with the Central Bank of Cyprus:

- due within three months 123.104.917
Total gross 137.716.628
ECL allowance (82.599)
Total: net of ECL allowance 137.634.029

Cash and balances with central banks are classified as current.

2019
€

13.247.095

42.087.143

55.334.238

55.288.596

Mandatory deposits with central banks represent the minimum leve! of average monthly deposits which the
Bank is required to maintain. Mandatory balances with central banks can be withdrawn at any time provided

the average monthly minimum deposits are maintained.

Analysed as:
2020
€
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Cyprus 132.221.161
Mandatory deposits with Central Bank of Cyprus 5.412.868
137.634.029

2019
€

49.202.111

6.086.485

55.288.596

(45.642)

48



NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

17.

18.

DEPOSITS WITH OTHER BANKS

Interbank accounts
Money market placements

Total gross .
ECL allowance

Total: net of ECL allowance

The maturity of the above balances is presented below:

Due within three months
Beiween three months and one year

Total gross
ECL allowance

Total: net of ECL allowance

The fair value of the above balances approximates their carrying amount.

2020
€

18.305.335
16.298.590

34.603.925

(172.580)

34.431.345

2020
€

34.440.856
163.069

34.603.925
(172.580)

34.431.345

2019
€

39.011.436

39.011.436
(182.528)

38.828.908

===

2019
€

38.833.314
178.122

39.011.436
(182.528)

38.828.908

Placements with banks bear interest which is based on the interbank rate of the relevant term and

Currency:

Deposits with other banks are classified as “financial assets at amortised cost™.

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY

The subsidiary company and its principal activity are described below:

Name Participation  Principal activities

National Securities Cyprus 100%
Limited

National Securities Cyprus Limited is registered in Cyprus.

Dormant company

2020

1.709

2019

1.709
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19. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

2020 2019
€ €
Loans and advances to customers — at amortised cost 223.791.157 253.333.758
Hire purchase and leasing debtors — at amortised cost - 16.423
Total: gross 223.791.157 253.350.181
ECL allowance on loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
(Note 21) {14.492.157) (12.985.218)
Total: net of ECL allowance 209.299.000 240.364.963

The transfer of certain of the Bank’s loans to the Cyprus branch of the parent bank during 2019 are disclosed

in Note 37.
The analysis of gross advances based on their remaining contractual maturity at 31 December is presented
below:
2020 2019
€ €
Due within three months 91.160.452 122.875.534
Between three months and one year 8.756.695 8.827.426
Between one and five years 40.974.476 41.861.292
Over five years 82.899.534 79.785.929
Total: Gross 223.791.157 253.350.181
The analyses of advances by industry sector is presented below:
2020 2019
€ €
Trade and services 83.460.580 102.234.933
Construction 29.327.054 34.619.620
Manufacturing 21.368.249 22.468.017
Tourism 9.799.918 9.592.520
Retail 56.239.181 59.724.628
Other 23.596.175 24.710.463
Total: Gross 223.791.157 253.350.181
Analysis by geographical area:
2020 2019
€ €
Cyprus 216.060.888 243.303.151
Greece 3.066.499 3.915.514
Other countries 4.663.770 6.131.516
Total: Gross 223.791.157 253.350.181

The fair value of loans and other advances to customers approximates their carrying amount at the balance
sheet date. Loans and advances to customers are categorized as “financial assets at amortised cost”.
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20. BALANCES WITH RELATED BANKS

(a) Deposits with related banks

National Bank of Greece S.A. (parent bank)
ECL allowance

Total: net of ECL allowance

The marurity of the above balances is presented below:

Due within three months
ECL allowance

Total: net of ECL allowance

2020
€

81.176.354
(388.457)

80.787.897

2020
€

81.176.354
(388.457)

80.787.897

The fair value of the above balances approximates their carrving amount.

(b) Deposits from related banks

National Bank of Greece S.A. (parent bank)

The maturity of the above balances is presented below..

Due within three months

2020
€

5.612.232

5.612.232

e

2020
€

5.612.232

5,612,232

The fair value of the above balances approximates their -carl.ymg. amount.

2019
€

186.661.908
(800.183)

185.861.725

2019
€

186.661.908
(800.183)

185.861.725

2019
€

4.828.072

4.828.072

2019
€

4.828.072

4.828.072
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21. ECL ALLOWANCE ON LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS AT AMORTISED COST

Balance at 1 January 2019

Reversal of impairment losses for the year

Write offs against provisions

Provisions on transferred portfolio (Note 37)

Provision on accrued interest for interest income not recognized

Balance at 31 December 2019 (Note 19)
Impairment losses for the year
Write offs against provisions

Provision on accrued interest for interest income not recognised

Balance at 31 December 2020 (Note 19)

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

2020
€

Impairment charge/(reversal) for ECL on loans and advances to
customers at amortised cost 1.668.329

€

15.897.453
(83.303)
(39.724)

(3.078.558)
289.350

12.985.218

1.668.329
(433.827)

272437

14.492.157

2019

(83.303)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 the Bank has not written off any loans and advances that are

subject to enforcement rights.
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22, FINANCIAL ASSETS — INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES

(a) Equity investments at fair value through other comprehénsive income (FVOCI) comprise the
following:
2020 2019
€ €

Listed equity securiries:
Master Card International Incorporation 6.142.662 5.618.359

Unlisted equity securities:
JCC Payment Systems Lid 1.044.488 1.044.488

Equity investments at fair valie through other
comprehensive income 7.187.150 6.662.847

The movement of financial assets at FVOCT is as follows:

2020 2019

€ €

Carrying amount at 1 January 6.662.847 4.419.365

Net gain from changes in fair value recognised in OCI 524.303 2.243.482

Carrying amount at 31 December 7.187.150 6.662.847

(b) Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) comprise the following:

2020 2019

_ € €
Listed equity securities:

.Bank of Cyprus Public Company Lid 3.131 5212

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3.131 5212
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23. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

Financial assets at amortised cost include the following debts investments:

2020 2019
€ €
Cyprus government bonds and treasury bills 166.114.896 146.946.453
ECL allowance (111.423) (159.357)
Total: net of ECL allowance 166.003.473 146.787.096
2020 2019
€ €
Listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange 137.432,131 146.946.453
Listed on the [talian Stock Exchange 28.682.765 -
ECL allowance (111.423) (159.357)
Total: net of ECL allowance 166.003.473 146.787.096
The maturity of the above investments is presented below:
2020 2019
€ €
Within three months 26.607.644 86.065.069
Between three months and one year 49.923.505 .
Between one and five years 24.659.697 24.693.799
QOver five years 64.924.050 36.187.585
Total: Gross carrying amount 166.114.896 146.946.453
ECL allowance (111.423) (159.357)
Total: net of ECL allowance 166.003.473 146.787.096
The movement of financial assets at amortised cost is as follows:
2020 2019
€ €
At 1 January 146,787,096 150.366.162
Additions 242,923,956 366.153.343
Maturities and redemptions (223.774.067) (369.878.000)
Interest accrued (Note 6) 1.765.819 1.379.008
Interest received {1.587.908) (1.074.060)
ECL allowance (111.423) (159.357)
At 31 December 166.003.473 146.787.096
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24. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land, Motor Furn_iture and Total
Buildings and Vehicles equipment
installations
€ € ' € €
Cost or valuation
1 January 2019 10.098.813 192,722 4.453.194  14.745.729
Additions - - 52.509 52.509
Write offs/disposals - - (15.191) (15.191)
Revaluarion 215.000 - - 215,000
31 December 2619/1 January 2020 10.213.812 193.722 : 4490.512  14.998.047
Additions x - 45317 45317
Revaluaiions (106.825) - - (106.825)
31 December 2020 10.206.988 193.722 . 4535829  14.936.539
Accumulated depreciation
1 January 2019 ) 103.258 182.559 4.074,330 4,360.147
Charge for the vear 103,258 31.853 160.558 267.669
. Writs offs/disposals - . (15.191) (15.191)
31 December 2019/1 January 2020 206.516 186.412 4.219.697 4.612.625
Charge for the vear 103.258 3.798 132,755 239.811
Revaluation (97.087) - - (97.087)
31 December 2020 . 212,687 . 190210 4.352.452 4.755.349
Net book value
31 December 2020 9.994.301 3512 ' 183.377  10.181.190
31 December 2019 10.107.297 7.310 270.815  10.385.422

Fair value measurement of the Bank’s freehold land and buildings

' The Bank’s land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of
revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
The fair value measurements of the Bank’s Jand and buildings are performed by indepcndent valuers not
related to the Bank. The valuers have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the fair value
measurement of properties in the relevamt locations. The fair value of the properties was determined using
the market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties and discounted
cash flow approach that reflects the annual return or potential return of the investor from the property held.
The fair value of the land and buildings has been determined at the average value based on the valuations
carried out by the Bank’s two independent property valuers.

The Bank adopted a valuation technique using unobservable inputs. Accordingly, the fair value was classified
as Level 3. ' '

There has been no change to the valuation technique during the year,

The valuation levels are defined as follows:

- Inputs other than quoted prices 1ncluded within Level 1 that are observable for the asset elthcr directly (that
is, as prices) or indirectly (thai is, derived from prices) (Level 2); and
- Inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).
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24.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Details of the Bank’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December

are as follows:

Quoted prices
in active Significant

markets for other Significant

identical assets observable unohservable
(level 1)  inputs (level 2)  inputs (level 3) Total
2020 2020 2020 2020
€ € € €
Land - 6.519.000 6.519.000
Buildings - - 3.131.000 3.131.000
= - 9.650.000 9.650.000

Quoted prices
in active Significant

markets for other Significant

identical assets observable uncbservable
(level 1)  inputs (level 2)  inputs (level 3) Total
2019 2019 2019 2019
€ € € €
Land - - 6.750.000 6.750.000
Buildings B 3.227.500 3.227.500
- - 9.977.500 9.977.500

Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

— 31 December 2020

Fair value at 31

December 2020  Valuation
Description € technique(s)
Land and office Land Office Market comparable
building — building approach
Nicosia 6.019.000 2.980.000

Unobservable
inputs

Price per square
meter

Range of
unobservable
inputs
(probability —
weighted
average)
Approximately
€350 - €650 for
basements, €4.400
for ground floor
and mezzanine
(new building) and
€8.000 for ground
floor and
mezzanine
(preserved
building})

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to

fair values

The higher the price

per square meter, the

higher the fair value
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24. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Details of the Bank’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December
2020 are as follows:

Range of
unobservable
inputs Relationship of
Fair value at 31 Reatal (probability — unobservable
December 2020 Valuation _value Discount Unobservable weighted inputs to
Deseription € technique(s) € rate inpuis © average) fair values
Land and Land Office - Market N'A N/A Price per square  €1.300 for The higher the price
office building comparable meter mezzanine floor per square meter, the
building—  500.000 151.000 approach - and €3.800 for  higher the fair value.
Larnaca ground floor
Discounted  42.000 6,5% Discount rate The higher the
cash flow discount rate, the
approach’ lower the fair value

Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) — 31 December
2019 '

Range of
unobservable
inputs Relationship of
Fair value at 31 {probability — unobservable
December 2019  Valunation Unobservable  weighted inputs to
Description € technigue(s) inputs average) fair values
Land and office Land Office Market comparable Price per square  Approximately The higher the price
building — Nicosia building approach meter €350 - €650 for - per square meter, the
6.247.500 3.052.500 basements, €4.500 higher the fair value
for ground floor
and mezzanine
(new building) and
€8.300 for ground
floor and
mezzanine
(preserved
building)
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24. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Range of
unobservable
inputs Relationship of
Fair value at 31 Rental (probability — unchbservable
December 2019 Valuation value Discount Unobservable weighted inputs to
Description € technique(s) € rate inputs average) fair values
Land and office Land Office Market N/A N/A Price per square €1.500 for The higher the price per
building — building comparable meter mezzanine floor square meter, the higher
Larnaca 502.500 175.000 approach and €3.900 for  the fair value.
ground floor
Discounted  45.000 6,5% Discount rate The higher the discount
cash flow rate, the lower the fair
approach value

25. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET

This note provides information for leases where the Bank is a lessee. The Bank has no leases where it is the lessor.

(i) The Bank’s leasing arrangements

The Company leases various offices and branches. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 2 years
to 8 years, but may have extension options.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

(ii) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

2020 2019
€ €
Right-of-use assets
Buildings 2.196.355 3.054.955
Total 2.196.355 3.054.955
Lease liabilities
Current 620.280 754.035
Non-current 1.733.251 2.390.231
Total 2.353.531 3.144.266

There were no additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2020 financial year.
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25. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET (continued)
(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

The income statement shows the following amounts relating to leases:

2020 2019
€ €
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Buildings 771.939 807.453
Total 771.939 807.453
Interest expense (included in finance cost) 66.001 127.075
Tetal 66.001 127.075
The total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was €744.241 (2019: €779.079).
26. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
2020 2019
€ €
Bealance at 1 Januarv 4.004.500 4.206.500
Fair value loss (Note 11) (164.500) (202.000)
Balance at 31 December 3.840.000 4.004.500

The Bank’s investment property is measured at fair value. Changes in fair values are recognised in profit or
loss. :

The fair value measurement of the Bank’s investment property as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December
2019 has been derived on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by independemt
valuers not related to the Bank. The valuers have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the
valuation of properties in the relevant locations. The fair value was determined based on the market
comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties and discounted cash flow
approach that reflects the annual retumn or potential return of the investor from the property held.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the fair value of the land and buildings has been determined at the average
value based on the valuations carried out by the Bank’s two independent property valuers.

There has been no change to the valuation technique during the vear.
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26. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

Details of the Bank’s investment property and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December

are as follows:

Land
Buildings

Land
Buildings

Level 3 Fair value
2020 2020

€ €
2.150.000 2.150.000
1.690.000 1.690.000
3.840.000 3.840.000
Level 3 Fair value
2019 2019

€ €
2.200.000 2.200.000
1.804.500 1.804.500
4.004.500 4.004.500

Information about fair value measurement using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) — 31 December 2020

Fair value at

31 December 2020
Description €
Land Office
building
Land and 2.150.000 1.690.000
office building
— Limassol

Valuation
technique

Market
comparable
approach

Discounted
cash flows
approach

Rental Discount

value rate
€ %

N/A N/A
160.740 5.5%

Unobservable
inputs

Price per
square meter

Discount rate

Range of
unobservable
inputs
(probability —
weighted
average)

Approximately
€175 for
basement,
€3.000 for
ground floor
and €850 -
€1.150 for
mezzaning
floor

N/A

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair
values

The higher the
price per

Square meter, the
Higher the fair
value

The higher the
discount

Rate, the lower
the

fair value
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26. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Information about fair value measurement using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3} — 31 December 2019

Fair value ht 31 December

2019

_ €
Description

Land and Land Office

office building building

— Limassoi 2.200.00 1.804.560

27, INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 1 January 2019
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

. Net book amount

Valuation

technigue value
€

Market N/A

comparable

approach

Discounted 160.740

cash flows

approach

Year ended 31 December 2019

Opening net book amount
Additions
Amortisation charge

Closing net book amount
At 31 December 2019
Cost

Accumulated amottisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2020

Opening net book amount
Additions
Amortisation charge

Closing net book amount

Rental Discount

rate
%

N/A

5%

Unobservable
inputs

Price per
sGuare meter

Discount rate.

Range of
unobservable
inputs
(probability — Relationship of
weighted unobservable
average) linputs to fair valugs
Approximarely The higher the price per
€180 for Square meter, the
basement, ‘Higher the fair value
€3.000 - €3.100
for ground
floor and €850
-€1.150 for
mezzanine
floor
NA The higher the discount
Rate, the lower the
fair valus
Computer
software
€
11.450.703
(6.733.091)
4.717.612
4.717.612
870.983
- (546.384)
5.042.211
12.321.686
(7.279.475)
5.042.211
5.042.211
688.173
(618.667)
5.111.717
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27. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Computer
software
At 31 December 2020 €
Cost 13.009.859
Accumulated amortisation (7.898.142)
5.111.717
28. OTHER ASSETS
2020 2019
€ €
Financial assets
Debtors and other receivables 2.422.397 4.512.545
Fair value of derivatives (1) 75.704 34.299
2.498.101 4.546.844
Non-financial assets
Prepaid expenses 248.921 278.847
Total other assets 2.747.022 4.825.691

(1) Forward foreign exchange contracts
The nominal value of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 December 2020 was

€3million (2019: €2 million).
29. DEPOSITS FROM OTHER BANKS

2020 2019

€ €

Interbank borrowing 12.271.766 16.944.584
The maturity of the above balances is presented below:

2020 2019

€ €

Due within three months 3.777.754 6.618.489

Between three months and one year - 771.341

Over five years 8.494.012 9.554.754

12.271.766 16.944.584

The fair value of the above balances approximates their carrying amount.
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30.

31.

DEPOSITS AND OTHER CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS

Time and notice accounts
Demand and current accounts
Savings accounts

Analysis by geographical area

Cyprus
Greece
Other countries

The fair value of the above balances approximates their carrying amount. -

The maturity analysis of the above mentioned balances is presented below:

Due within three months
Between three months and one vear

OTHER LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities

Amounts due to suppliers

Receipts on behalf of third parties

Cheques — drafts payable

Fair value of derivatives

Other liabilities .
Provisions for Off-Balance Sheet exposures

Non-financial liabilities

Provision for staff unpaid leave

Value added tax payable

Provisions for litigations, claims and complaints

Total other liabilities

2020 2019
€ €
233.505.930 263.624.666
202.373.439 220.752.502
130.567.671 113.205.160
566.447.040 597.582.328
2020 2019

€ €
459.479.091 475.703.078.
71.465.138 80.493.912
35.502.811 41.385.338
566.447.040 597.582.328
2020 2019

€ €
473.408.225 495.704.375
93.038.815 101,877.953
566.447.040 597.582.328
2020 2019

€ €

101.251 414421
524.191 713.674
1.675.846 1.046.473

- 1.304

4.177.714 5.206.273
184353 286.516
6.663.355 . 7.668.661
278.898 556.425
112.041 316.645
246.262 160.763
637.201 1,033.833
7.300.556 8.702.494
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32.

33.

34.

SHARE CAPITAL
2020 2019
Shares € Shares €
Authorised:
Ordinary shares of Euro 1,71 each 30.000.000 51.300.000 30.000.000 51.300.000
Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of Euro 1,71 each 30.000.000 51.300.000 30.000.000 51.300.000
REVALUATION RESERVES
Financial
Land and assets at
buildings FVTOCI Total
€ € €
Balance at 1 January 2019 8.182.266 4.609.179 12.791.445
Gain from change in fair value 215.000 2.243.482 2.458.482
Balance at 31 December 2019/1 January 2020 8.397.266 6.852.661 15.249.927
Gains/(losses) from changes in fair value (Notes
22 and 24) (9.738) 524303 514.565
Balance at 31 December 2020 8.387.528 7.376.964 15.764.492
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
The nominal value of the contingencies and commitments as at 31 December are presented below:
2020 2019
€ €
Acceptances and Endorsements 274.744 1.130.781
Letters of Guarantee 16.655.741 18.531.597
Letters of Credit 2.951.883 2.373.563
Customers’ credit limits that have been approved but have not been used  105.741.407 97.175.340
125.623.775 119.211.281

Letters of credit and guarantees are offset by corresponding obligations of third parties.

Pending litigations and claims

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 there were pending litigations against the Bank in
connection with its activities. Based on legal advice the Management believes that there is adequate defense
against all claims and it is not possible that the Bank will suffer any significant damage over and above any
amounts already provided as disclosed in Note 31. Provision amounts recognized primarily relate to
outstanding industrial and/or trade union disputes in relation to which the Management expects economic
outflows that approximate the provision amounts recognized. The Management is unable to reliably estimate
the exact timing of such outflows, the majority of which depend on the timing of final court decisions whose

determination is by nature uncertain.
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35. NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Note 2020 2019
€ €
I oss before taxation (7.193.850)  (1.463.013)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 24 239,811 267.669
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 25 771.939 807.453
Amortisation of intangible asseis 27 618.667 546.384
Provision for unused vacation 81.050 16.512
Impairment losses. (reversal of impairment losses) on loans and 21 1.668.329 (83.303)
advances to customers '
Profit from derivative financial instruments - (42.709) (11.019)
Loss on revaluation of investment property 26 164.500 202.000
Dividend income 10 (124.993) (88.659)
Interest income on debt securities 6  (1.765.819) (1.379.008)
(Reversal of impairment loss) / Impairment loss on other financial 12 (47.934) 37.168
assets at amortised cost .
Loss from fair value through profii or loss equity investment . 1 2.080 1.222
(5.628.929)  (1.146.594)
Decrease in loans and other advances to customers 0 29.397.634  20.702.418
(Decrease)/increase in deposits and other customer accounts (31.135.288) 10.137.016
Decrease/(increase) in deposits with other banks ‘ 15.053 (3.360)
Dectrease/(increase) in obligatory balances with Central Bank of
Cyprus 673.617 (318.264)
{Decrease)/increase in deposits from other banks (4.672.818) 8.584.620
Inerease in deposits from related banks 784.160 4.018.934 -
Deécrease. (ificrease) in other assets - 2.121.378 (2.325.480)
Decrease in other liabilities (1.401.938) (1.671.175)
Net cash (used in) / generated from operations (9.847.131y 37.978.115
Withholding tax credit refund received ' 15 1.923.907 -
Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities (7.923.224) 37.978.115
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
2020 2019
€ €
Cash in hand (Note 16) 14.611.711 13.247.095
Non-obligatory balances with Central Bank of Cyprus 117.692.049 36.000.658
Deposits with related bariks — due within three months 81.176.354 186.661.908
Deposits with other banks — due within three months 34.440.856 - 38.833.314
247.920.970 274.742.975
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36. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

For the purpose of preparing the statement of cash flows, the maturities of cash equivalents relating to the
balances with related and other banks and with the Central Bank of Cyprus, are based on their original

contractual maturity.
37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The parent and ultimate holding company (and also the Ultimate Controlling Party) of the Bank is National
Bank of Greece S.A., a company registered in Greece, which prepares consolidated financial statements
available for public use. The consolidated financial statements of National Bank of Greece S.A. are
available at the National Bank of Greece S.A, website (www.nbg.gr) and its registered office is located at

Folou 86, 10232 Athens, Greece.
Details of transactions between the Bank and other related parties are disclosed below.

Trading transactions

During the year, the Bank entered into the following trading transactions with related parties:

Interest & other Interest & other
income expense
2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € € €
National Bank of Greece S.A. — parent bank 2.468.905 1.962.036 129.964 169.337
Subsidiaries of National Bank of Greece S.A 847.961 878.620 717.420 886.850
Balances with related companies
The following balances were payable to related parties at the end of the reporting period:
2020 2019
€ €
Deposits and other customer accounts
National Securities S.A.-related party under common control 12.398 12.463
NBG Management Services Limited-related party under common control 867.001 2.365.139
Ethniki Insurance {Cyprus) Limited-related party under common control 5.967.755  4.966.012
Ethniki General Insurance (Cyprus) Limited-related party under common
control 2.895.214  3.772.666
National Securities (Cyprus) Limited-subsidiary 1.912 1.912
CAC Coral Limited — related party under common control 4.746.454  3.365.843
14.484.055

14.490.734

Deposits with and from related banks are presented in Note 20 to the financial statements.
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37.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Other transactions

@

(i)

(iii)

On 31 December 2019, the Bank assigned to the Cyprus branch of the parent bank loans and
advances to customers of net book value €12,2 (with gross amount €15.2 and ECL provisions €3.0)
million for consideration of an equivalent amount, at no gain, no loss.

The parent bank, National Bank of Greece S.A., had issued a letter of guarantee of _615,9 million
in favour of the Bank thar supported the recoverability of the outstanding loan granted to NBG
Leasing SRL. The guarantee expired on 31 July 2018 and was renewed until 31 July 2019. The
remaining amount of €10,4 million was secured through a cash collateral lien agreement with the
parent bank. This loan was no longer on the Bank’s balance sheet as at 31 December 2018.

Key management personnel related transactions

2020 2019
€ . €
Loans and advances to members of the Board of
Directors and connected persons 447 - 653
Deposits of members of the Board of Directors and
connected persons - 59.356 84.522
Inferest expense 103 -

Connected persons include spouses, minor children and companies in which Directors or key
management personnel hold, directly or indirectly, at least 20% of the voting shares.

All transactions with members of the Board of Directors and their connected persons are made on
normal business terms as for comparable transactions with customers of a similar credit standing. All
transactions with key management personnel arc made on the same terms as those applicable to the
rest of the Bank®s emplovees.

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the year was as
follows:

2020 2019

€ €

Fees paid to Directors as members of the Board 96.000 86.588
Exccutive Directors emoluments

Salaries and other short-term benefits 179.089 145.690

Employer’s contributions 719 6.116

179.808 151.806

Total compensation . 275.808 238.394
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38.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT OF THE BANK

In the first quarter of 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 as a
pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic has caused a significant global economic downturn which has
adversely affected, and is expected to continue to adversely affect, the Bank’s business and results of
operations. The evolution of the disease and its economic impact remains highly uncertain.

Cyprus economy facing significant challenges in view of the important role of services in cconomic activity
and its relatively shallow production structure (high dependence on imports). The backdrop of ongoing
downward revisions of growth forecasts for the global economy and the euro area, in conjunction with
Cyprus’ high dependency on inbound tourism, pose significant downside risks to Cyprus GDP growth in
2021. The future impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Cyprus and/or global economy and the Bank’s
business, results of operations and financial condition remain uncertain.

Duc to COVID-19 pandemic, authorities implement numerous measures attempting to contain the spread
and impact of COVID-19. New entry regulations have been applied with regards to protecting the
population from a further spread of the disease which tightened the entry of individuals to the Republic of
Cyprus within the year. Additionally, a considerable number of private businesses operating in various
gsectors of the economy closed for a period of time while a number of lockdown measures, such as the
prohibition of unnecessary movements, restrictions on travelling and the suspension of operations of retail
companies {(subject to certain exemptions), were applied throughout the year. The measures were
contimuously revised (lifted or tightened) by the Republic of Cyprus by taking into consideration the
epidemic status in the country. The objective of these public policy measures was to contain the spread of
COVID-19 outbreak and have resulted in minor operational disruption for the Bank.

These measures severely restrict economic activity, businesses, market participants, our counterparties and
customers as well as the Cyprus and/or global economy for a prolonged period of time. More specifically,
industries such as tourism, hospitality and entertainment have been directly disrupted significantly by these
measures. Other industries, such as manufacturing and financial services, have also been indirectly affected.
Depending on how the situation develops and the duration of the disruption, there is the potential for the
associated economic slowdown to impact expected credit losses. It is also possible that the Bank may
experience reductions from lower lending and transaction volumes, which may impact the Risk Weighted
Assets and capital position. However, these risks will be partly offset by a set of measures provided in 2020

and continued in 2021,

More specifically, certain measures have been taken by the Republic of Cyprus since then with a view to
safeguarding public health and ensuring the economic survival of working people, businesses, vulnerable

groups and the economy at large.

Management is taking necessary measures to ensure sustainability of the Bank’s operations. The Bank’s
priority is always the well-being of our customers and staff. Therefore, we have invoked our business
continuity plans to help ensure the safety and well-being of our staff, as well as our capability to support
our customers and maintain our business operations. However, the future effects of the current cconomic
situation are difficult to predict and management’s current expectations and estimates could differ from

actual results.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

39.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, market risk (inclhiding currency
risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The Bank’s overall risk management policies focus on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise the potential adverse effects on the Bank’s
financial performance, financial position and cash flows.

a)  Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Bank. Credit risk arises mainly from loans and advances to banks, customers and loan
commitments, but can also arise from financial guarantees, investments in debt securities and other
exposures resulting from its trading activities including derivatives, other financial assets and balance with
central banks,

The Bank has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient
collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Bank’s
exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are regularly monitored and the aggregate value of
transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by
counterparty limits approved by the Bank and which are reviewed and approved at least on an annual basis.

The loan portfolio is assessed on the basis of customer creditworthiness, the segtor of the economy in which
the customer operates and the country of operation and is regularly examined by the Bank’s Internal Audit
department.

Credit concentration risk

Credit concentration risk arises from exposures to each counterparty, groups of connected counterparties,
and counterparties in the same economic sector, geographic region or from the same activity. The following
categories of credit concentration risk are récognized by the Bank:

- Single-name concentrations (including group of connected clients);
- Industry concentrations;

- Geographical concentrations;

- Collateral and guarantees concentration.

For the purposes of managing and monitoring concentration risks the Bank has established appropriate
limits, a monitoring and reporting framework as well as appropriate measures and methodologies for the
allocation of capital as mitigant.

Maximum exposure to credit visk and collateral and other credir enhancements

The main types of collateral obtained by the Bank for loans and advances to customers are mortgages of
properties, blocked deposits, bank guarantees, pledges of equity securities of public companies, fixed and
floating charges over corporate assets, assignment of life insurance policies and personal and corporate
guarantees.

Collateral held as security for other financial assets is determined by the nature of the instrument. Debt
securities and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.

69



0L

199ys aoue[eq Sy ue papiodai s sjunowe JuiAired 19U UO PIseq STe IA0GE JNO 19§ SAINSOdXa 9y} SJASSE 199YS SOUR[BQ-UO J0,]

606°C99°1HL
SLLETYSTI
LOV I¥LS0T
£88°1S6C
IFL 55991
WrLvLT
£91°ST1°89% T1L6°916°LYT 789°08T v 169 TH#9°0ET 6691 668°7T0°EL PELTHO'919
101°86¥'C - = - - 101°86¥'C
ELP E00°991 c = - - - ELYP £00°991
6TO'TRE 19 [L6"916° LT T89°0ST+ 169 1+9°0€1 6691 668°Cc0°ElL 000°667°60T
[A7A I AN " - = - = PTHITCTY
BIETTOETI - - - - & 8TETTOETI
2 3 3 3 3 3 3
Y[SLI JIPaId [e133E0d nYpo Aaadoag SANLINIAG qse) HSLI JIpad
0] an50dx? Bl 0] ainsodxa
19N WIS RA]
Yuegq agt g

PI3Y SJUIEIITBLAI JIPAII PUE [BIIIE[OD JO INJBA XIEy

amsodxs JSII Ipaio [l ],

€30} 193YS 90UBTEq-JO

PU2] 0} STUSTIIIWOD IS PUB SIUT] JIPATY UMBIpUQ)
P20 JO S1a197]

20J0RIENS JO SIaPRT]

SIISIUASIOPUD PUB $90uRIdaosy

SIUSWIUIIOY PUe SAIIIqET] JUSBULIUC.)

[107 1991S 20UR[Rq-UQ

S]OSSE [RIOUBU]] JOYIO)
1500 PIsIOWR T SOUIIND3S 1o
SI9WOISNO O} SIOUBAPE puE SUEo|
syUeq M spsodag

stud£D) 30 Yueq [enus) yim sanugeg
0707

"Peeurr)sa

AJpreinose pue A[ises oq JOUUED SN[EA JIEJ XSY) Se MO[aq UOHRULIOJU] SY) UT PPN[SU J0U 918 JNq ‘[eI1R[[09 JO WI0J [EUOTIPPR UR 0T S32JUeIenS [eUOSIag S JIPaIo 0]
21ns0dxa 39U 3y} SE [[aM Se P[oY SJUSISOURYUS JIPAID JOYIO PUR [BISIE[[0D J[GRINSLSU Pue ojqIFue) aup Ys1 Wpa12 0} aIsodxs WNTUIXEW 2] SJUsaIdaL Mo[oq a[qe) sy,

TALIAIT (SOUJAD) ADTATAD A0 JINVE TVNOLLVN

(Panugu02) STUBUDIUDYUD J1PALD ADIIO PUD [DISIDIIOD PUD YS1d HPDAD 0F 24nSOdXS WNUIXOPY

(panunyuod) ysLI JPAI) (e

(panunuos) I NFIWHOVNVIA ISTH

6¢

0207 19QuII( [ ¢ PIPUI ABIA
SINAWIALY.LS TYIDNVNId TH.L OL STLON



1L

9P6ERY S9L
I8TTIT611
OPESLT LG
£95°EL8°T
L6S'TES ST
18270811
99T 06T E8Y 66EZRO'TIT STOOLG'S LLOLTIT eV b fAS ] 698798901 SYTLT OPY
FPr8OFSy - - = = ¥ 12281404
9607 L8L V1 " - - - - . 960 L3L 9P
YOS TRELL 66ETRETIN STH'9L0S LLOLTIT EFT AN | 698°989°F1 £96 VYL OVT
192°2¢5°2IT - - - - - 19T°2ESTIT
108 T ZTY - - - - = [0S TH0°Cy
3 3 3 3 3 3 3
HNLL JPaTy [R1Ef0 YO Apradoag SIQLINRAG sE) HSLI JIPAIY
01 aansodxa ®10], 0} dansodxa
BN UENTITXBIA]
- T ueq aq) Aq !

PIPY SJUAMIAINEHD JIPAL) PUE [RIE[I0 JO IN[BA JT8]

TLLTATT (SN UJAD) HOARED 4O MNVE TYNOLLYN

"Jo0s S0UR[RY S U0 PaModal S STUNOWER FUIALED 10U UG PISEq 011 SA0GE JN0 195 $2IMs0dXa a7} S108E 100YS IOUR[EY-UO 10,]

amsodxa s JPaID w0
[e10) 339y a0Ue[Bq-10)

US| 0] SHUSWIIUITIND IO PUB SSUT] JPILI WATIPU[)
Npata Jo spe']

somueeny yo siaper |

SIUDUSSIOPUS pue sonumdanny

SUISUNNUWOD PUR SaUI[Iqer Juodunuo; )

[£10] 109§ DOUR[RG-U()

)9S5 [RIDUBUL) IoUN()

1500 PASIIOUIE 11 $30LINDSS Jga( ]
SISTIMSTID O] $IOUBAPE PUE SURO"|
SR UM spisodag |

snadA) JO ung] [RINUS,) YIIM so0uR[Bg
610CT

(PARUIINOD) SUUSUBIUDYUD JIPBLD. AFYIO PUD [DIHD]I0I PUD YSLL JIPALD 0F DANSOXD WHUXOIN

(panunuoa) Js11 JpaI) (v

{ponunuos) INHWAHVNVIN MSIH

6%

G207 1PQURI( 1€ PIPUI IBIX
SENAWALVIS "TVIODNVNIA AL OL SALON



NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

39,

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a) Credit risk (continued)

Forborne exposures

The credit tools commonly used by the Bank to manage liquidity problems faced by its clients in the
repayment of their debts is the restructuring of their finances by renegotiating the current terms of the loan

agreement.

Regulation EU no. 575/2013 established the framework for prudential requirements on the management by
credit institutions of loans arrears and non-performing loans.

The European Banking Authority (EBA) published in 2014 its technical standards with respect to non-
performing and forborne exposures. Exposures include all debt instruments (loans and advances and debt
securities) and off-balance sheet exposures, except those held for trading exposures.

According to the EBA technical standards, forborne exposures are those debt contracts in respect of which
forbearance measures have been extended. Forbearance measures consist of concessions towards a debtor
(including part of total refinancing of a debt contract) which aim to address existing or anticipated
difficulties on the part of the debtor to service debt in accordance with the current repayment schedule.
Changes in the terms and conditions of 4 contract that do not occur because the customer is not able to meet
the terms and conditions of the contract due to financial difficulties do not constitute forbearance measures.

The most significant prerequisite for the forbearance of an exposure is the ecxistence of customer repayment
ability i.e. the customer is viable.

The forbearance measures to be taken and their duration thereof are determined on the basis of specific
customer information, based on the prevailing economic conditions and in accordance with relevant

legislation or regulatory Directives.

Every effort is being taken by the Bank for the proper assessment of the new repayment schedule on the
basis of the forbearance measures, in order to avoid a new default.

The below tables present the Bank’s forborne exposures in accordance with the EBA technical standards,
the tangible and measurable collateral and other credit enhancements held and the net exposure to credit

risk.

Maximum
exposure to Fair value of Net exposure to
credit risk collateral credit risk
€ € €
2020
Stage 2 11.441.975 5.283.976 6.157.999
Stage 3 24.594.678 23.170.097 1.424.581
36.036.653 28.454.073 7.582.580
Maximum
exposure fo Fair value of Net exposure to
credit risk collateral credit risk
€ € €
2019
Stage 2 16.445.574 15.516.572 929.002
Stage 3 27.500.311 26.027.863 1.472.448
43.945.885 41.544.435 2.401.450
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

39.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a)  Credit risk (continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost
Other financial assets at amortised cost include loans and advances to customers, financial assets at amortised
costs, cash and balances with Central Bank of Cyprus, Deposits with other and related banks.

The Bank considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of financial asset at amortised cost and
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk the Bank compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the following
indicators are incorporated:

- internal credit rating;
= external credit rating (as far as available);

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes in the operating resuits of the borrower/counterparty;
significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same borrower/counterparty;

- significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party
guarantees or credit enhancements; and

- significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the borrower/counterparty, including
changes in the payment status of counterparty and changes in the operating results of the
borrower,

Macroeconomic information (such as market interest rates or growth rates) is incorporated as part of the
internal rating model. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the ¢ustomers to settle the receivables. The Bank has
identified the GDP and the unemployment rate of the countries in which it sells its goods and services to be
the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these
factors.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 30
days past due in making a contractual payvment.

A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 90 days of
when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no rcasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing
to engage in a repayment plan with the Bank. Where loans or receivables have been written off, the Bank
continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are
made, these are recognised in profit or loss.

The Bank uses three categories for loans, receivables, other receivables, debt securitics at FVOCI which
reflect their credit risk and how the loss provision is determined for each of those categories. These internal
credit risk ratings are aligned 1o external credit rating companies, such as Standard and Poor, Moody’s and

-Fitch.
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a)  Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality of loans and other advances to customers

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Company’s expected credit loss model is as follows:

Category

Company definition of category

Basis for recognition of
expected credit loss provision

Basis for calculation
of interest revenuie

Performing

Counterparties have a low risk of
default and a strong capacity to
meet contractual cash flows.

Stage 1: 12 month expected
losses. Where the expected
lifetime of an asset is less than 12
months, expected losses are
measured at its expected lifetime.

Gross cartying
amount

Underpetforming

Counterparties for which there
is a significant increase in credit
risk; as significant increase in
credit risk is presumed if interest
and/or principal repayments are
30 days past due (see above in
more detail) as well as any
breach on the recorded 12 month
and lifetime PD thresholds and
ratings downgrades. In addition
the forbearance status is
considered.

Stage 2: Lifetime expected losses

(Gross carrying
amount

Non-performing

Interest and/or principal
repayments are 50 days past due.
Also the contamination rule
{pulling effect) is in place with
regards to corporate portfolio.

Stage 3: Lifetime expected losses

Amortised cost
carrying amount (net
of credit allowance)

Over the term of the loans and advances to customers, financial assets at amortised cost, cash and balance with
Central Bank of Cyprus, Deposits with other and related banks, the Bank accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for expected credit losses on a timely basis. In calculating the expected credit loss rates,
the Bank considers historical loss rates for each category of customers, and adjusts for forward looking
macroeconomic data.

The Bank provides for credit losses against loans and advances to customers, financial assets at amortised cost,
cash and balances with Central Bank of Cyprus, Deposits with other and related banks. The following tables
contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of each class of financial instruments for which an ECL allowance
is recognised. The gross carrying amounts below also represents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk

on these assets as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

The following tables analyse the Bank’s loans and advances in accordance with internal credit rating category.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a)  Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality of loans and other advances to customers (continued)

Loans and advances to customers

Bank’s internal credit rating - RMIII Gross carrying Credit loss Carrying amount (met of
amount allowance impairment provision)

€ € i &

Al 49.300.158 176.614 49.123.544
A2 27.838.870 241.925 27.596.945
B1 19.396.231 246,537 19.149.694
B2 11.321.916 140.238 11.181.678
C1 15.528.961 71.219 15.451.742
Cc2 7.446.559 48,539 7.398.020
D 9.653.167 121.945 9.531.222
D2 14.198.252 591.434 13.606.818
El 6.361.035 140.639 6.220.396
E2 892,981 67.648 825233
F 42.010.608 11.419.628 30.590.980
Total as at.31 December 2020 203.948.738 13.272.366 190.676.372
Bank’s internal credit rating - Empirical Gross carrying Credit loss Carrying amount {net of
Model' amount allowance impairment provision)
LOW 1.410.605 7.00§ 1.403.592
MEDIUM 2.013.883 19.851 1.994.032
CONSIDERABLE 3.720.612 800 3,719.812
EIGH 3.924.597 1332 3.923.265
D 8,772,722 1.190.800 7.581.923
Total as at 31 December 2020 19.842.419 1.219.791 18.622.628
Total portfolio as at 31 December 2020 223.791.157 14.492.157 209.299.000

- The Empirical Model is used by the Bank with regard to business entities falling' under Special Lending such as project finance
lending, object finance lending, commeodities finance lending and income-producing real estate lending.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2020
39.

a)

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality of loans and other advances to customers (continued)

Bank’s internal credit rating Gross carrying Credit loss Carrying amount (net of
amount allowance impairment provision)
€ € €
Al 70.351.067 200.259 70.150.808
A2 22.486.064 117.862 22.368.202
Bl 26.417.014 286,459 26.130.555
B2 10.060.174 78.042 9.982.132
Cl 24.518.632 75.106 24.443.526
C2 12.534.922 148.755 12.386.167
D1 11.445.394 127.554 11.317.840
D2 14.475.091 667.510 13.807.581
El 11.143.653 1.595.325 9.548.328
E2 9.248.203 161.482 9.086.721
F 40.669.967 9.526.864 31.143.103
Total as at 31 December 2019 253.350.181 12,985.218 240.364.963
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Cyprus
Internal credit Expected credit | Gross carrying (ECL) Carrying amount (net of
assessment loss rate amount (€) € impairment provision) (€)
Performing 0,067% 123.104.917 (82.599) 123.022.318
Underperforming N/A - - -
Not performing N/A - - -
Write off N/A - - -
Total as at 31 123.104.917 (82.599) 123.022.318
December 2020
Due from other and related banks
Internal credit Expected credit Gross carrying (ECL) Carrying amount (net of
assessment loss rate amount (€) (€) impairment provision) (€)
Performing 0,485% 115.780.279 (561.037) 115.215.242
Underperforming N/A - - -
Not performing N/A - - -
Write off N/A - - -
Total as at 31 115.780.279 (561.037) 115.219.242
December 2020
Financial assets at amortised cost — Cyprus Government bonds and treasury bills
Intermal credit Expected credit Gross carrying (ECL) Carrying amount (net of
assessment loss rate amount {€) {€) impairment provision) (€)
Performing 0,067% 166.114.896 (111.423) 166.003.473
Underperforming N/A - - -
Not performing N/A - - -
Write off N/A - - -
Total as at 31 166.114.896 (111.423) 166.003.473
December 2020
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39.

a)

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit guality of loans and other advances to customers (continued)

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Cyprus

| Internal credit Expected credit | Gross carrving (ECL) Carrying amount {(net of !

! assessment loss rate amount (€) € impairment provision) (€) |
Performing 0,108% 42.087.143 (45.642) 42.041.501
Underperforming N/A - - -
Not performing N/A - - -
Write off | N/A - -

i Total as at 31 i : :

| December 2019 | 42.087.143 {45.642) 42.041.501

-Due from other and related banks
Internal credit Expected credit |  Gross carrying | (ECL) | Carrying amount (net of
assessment loss rate _amount (€) (€) | impairment provision) (€)
Performing 0,435% 225.673.344 (982.711) | ' 224.690.633
Underperforming " N/A - - | -
Noi performing N/A - - -

Vrite off’ N/A - - -

Total as at 31 !
December 2619 | 225.673.344 (982.711) 224.690.633

Financial assets at amortised cost — Cyprus Government bonds and treasury hills
Internal credit Expected credit Gross carrying (ECL) I Carrying amount (net of
assessment loss rate amount (€) (€) | impairment provision) (€)
Performing '0,108% , 146.946.453 (159.357) | 146.787.096

: Underperforming N/A | - - | -

i Not performing NiA i - - | -

i Write off N/A i - | § -

[ Total as at 31 - : i :

| December 2019 | 146.946.453 | (159.357) | 146.787.096
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYFPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

39.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a)  Credit risk (continued)

Credit related commitmenis

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a borrower as required.
Guarantees which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a
counterparty cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans and advances.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of
loans or guarantees. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially
exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments, if the unused amounts were to be drawn

down.

The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit related commitments, because longer-term commitments

generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.

An analysis of credit related commitments by credit quality based on credit risk grades at 31 December 2020

is as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(lifetime (lifetime
(12-months ECL for ECL for credit
ECL) SICR) impaired) Total
€ € € €
Issued letters of guarantees/letters
of credit and acceptances and
endorsements 16.859.233 1.982.323 1.040.812 19.882.368
Provision for issued letters of
guarantees/credit (10.393) (53) (1.431) (11.877)
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(lifetime (lifetime
{(12-months ECL for ECL for credit
ECL) SICR) impaired) Total
€ € € €
Loan commitments - unutilised
credit facilities 94.493.495 10.803.480 444432 105.741.407
Provision for loan commitments (113.244) (46.442) (12.940) (172.626)
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

39.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a)  Credit risk (continued) -

Credit related commitments (continued)

Movements in the provision for loan commitments were as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
- (12- (lifetime (lifetime
months ECL for ECL for credit Total
ECL) SICR) impaired) provision
€ . € € €
Provision for loan commitments at _ o
1 January 2020 236.652 . 14.758 27.356 278.766
Loan commitments (fees charged) {139.133) 29.611 3.382 (106.140)
Movements between stages 15.725 2.073 (17.798) -
Provision for loan commitments at
31 December 2020 113.244 46.442 12.940 172.626
Movements in the provision for letters of guarantees credit were as follows:
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(12- (lifetime
months (lifetime ECL ECL for credit
ECL) for SICR) impaired) Total provision
. € € _€ €
Provision for letters of
guarantees/letters of credit and
acceptances and endorsements at
1 January 2020 7.364 535 7.899
Issued guarantees (fees charged) 3.092 3 883 3.978
.Other movements ' {63) 30 13 -
Provision for letters of
guarantees/letters of credit and
.acceptances and endorsements at
31 December 2020 10.393 53 1.431 11.877
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a)  Credit risk (continued)

Credit related commitments (continued)

An analysis of credit related commitments by credit quality based on credit risk grades at 31 December 2019
is as follows.

Stage 3
Stage 1 Stage2 (lifetime ECL
(12-months (lifetime ECL for credit
ECL) for SICR) impaired) Total
€ € € €
Issued letters of guarantees/letters of
credit and acceptances and
endorsements 20.955.881 46.952 1.033.430 22.036.263
Provision for issued letters of
guarantees/credit (7.364) . (535) (7.899)
Stage 3
Stage I Stage2 (lifetime ECL
(12-months (lifetime ECL for credit
ECL) for SICR) impaired) Total
€ € € €
Loan commitments — unutilised credit _
facilities 95.111.713 1.902.132 161.496 97.175.341

Provision for loan commitments (236.598) (14.759) (27.410) (278.767)




NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

39.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a)  Credit risk (continued)

Credit related commitments (continued)

Movements in the provision for loan commitments were as follows:

Stage 2 Stage 3
Stagel  (lifetime (lifetime
(12- ECL for ECL for Total
months SICR) ‘credif provision
ECL) €  impaired) €
€ €
Provision for loan commitments at I January 2019 260.056 20.423 43.873 324352
Loan commitments (fees charged) (56.170) 8.737 1.847 (45.586)
Movements between stages , 32.766 {14.402) (18364 - -
Provision for loan commitments at 31 December
2019 236.652 14.758 27356  278.766
Movements in the provision for letters of guarantees/credit were as follows:
Stage Stage 2 Stage 3
(12- (lifetime
months (lifetime ECL ECL for credit Total
ECL) for SICR) impaired) provision
€ € € €
Provision for letters of
guarantees/letters of credit and
acceptances and endorsements at
1 Japuary 2019 8.865 - 8.865
Issued guarantees {fees charged) 38 - (1.004) (966)
Other movements _ (1.539) 1.539 -
Provision for letiers of
guarantees/letters of eredit and
acceptances and endorsements at
31 December 2019 7.364 - 535 7.899

The total ouistanding contractual amount of undrawn credit lines and guarantees does not necessarily
represent future cash requirements, as these financial instruments may expire or terminate without being

funded.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a)  Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality of the Bank’s assets exposed fo credit risk other than loans and other advances to

customers — Analysis by rating agency

Balances with Central Bank of Cyprus and deposits with banks are analysed by Moody’s rating as

follows:

Aaa— Aaj3
Al—-A3
Baal — Baa3
Bal —Ba2
Caal — Caa3
Unrated

Investments in debt securities, comprising of government bonds and treasury bills, are analysed by Moody’s

rating as follows:

Ba2
Baa3

Issued by:
Cyprus sovereign
Italy sovereign

Classified as:
Financial assets at amortised cost

2020
€

4.578.725
25.001.4%6
4.802.825
126.092.534
77.717.662
48.318

238.241.560

2020
€

137.320.708
28.682.765

166.003.473

2020
€

137.320.708
28.682.765

166.003.473

2020
€

166.003.473

2019
€

11.364.118
23.461.743
3.938.645
45.524.609
182.378.617
64.401

266.732.133

2019
€

146.787.096

146.787.096

2019
€

146.787.096

146.787.096

2019
€

146.787.096
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39.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
b)  Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet current and future payments obligations as and
when they fall due. This risk includes the possxblhty that the Bank may have io raise funding at a higher
cost or sell assets at a discount.

Bank assets are mainly funded by deposits.' The maturity of the deposits is actively monitored in or_der to
avoid concentration of funding maturities at any point in time. The responsibility for the management of
liquidity rests with the treasury department and the operations and support division.

Uliimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Bank’s short, medium and
long-term funding and liquidity requirements, in order to also ensure compliance with the limits set by the
applicable regulatory limits.

Analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities by remaining eontractual maturity

The following liquidity tables analyse the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Bank into relevant
maturity groupings based on their remaining contractual maturity at 31 December and is based on
undiscounted cash flows.

Financial assets

The financial assets are presented on the same basis as the one provided 1o the management of the Bank
and 1o the Central Bank of Cyprus, as this presentation is considered fo be the most appropriate presentation
of the Bank’s liquidity. Accordingly, the analysis of the financial assets does not include any interesi
receivable cash flows. '

Current accounts,'overdraﬁs and amounts in arrears are included within the first maturity time band which
reflects their contractual maturity. All other loans and advances to customers are analysed according to
their contractual repayment schedule.

Balances with banks are analysed in the time bands according to the number of days remaining from 31
December until their contractual maturity date. Financial assets with no contractual maturity (i.e. equity
securities) are included in the "over 5 years" time band. The investments are classified in the relevant time
band according to their contractual maturity. '

Financial liabilities

Ali financial liabilities for the repayment of which notice is required, are included in the relevant time bands
as if notice had been given on 31 December. Fixed deposits are classified in time bands based on their
contractual maturity.

Contingent liabilitizs and commitments

The limits of ioans and advances are commitments to provide credit to customers. The limits are granted
for predetermined periods and can be cancelled by the Bank after giving relevant notice to the cusiomers.
Thus, the unutilised credit facilities are included within the first maturity time band.

91



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

39.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

b) Liquidity risk (continued)

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYFPRUS) LIMITED

Analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturity (continued)

2020

Financial assets

Cash and balances with Ceniral Bank
of Cyprus

Deposits with banks

Loans and advances to customers
Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss

Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income
Other financial assets at amortised
costs

Other financial assets

Financial liabilities

Deposits from banks

Deposits and other customer accounts
Other financial liabilities

Off-balance sheet items
Acceptances and endorsements
Letters of guarantee

Letters of eredit

Amount of unutilised credit facilities

2019

Financial assets

Cash and balances with Central Bank
of Cyprus

Deposits with banks

Loans and advances to customers
Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss

Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income
Other financial assets at amortised
costs

Other financial assets

Between 3

Less than Between months Between Over 3
1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years years Total
€ € € € € €
89.072.411 17.777.527  21,197.816 7.925.765 1.660.510 137.634.029
115.219.242 - - - . 115.219.242
88.562.349 2.598.103 8.756.695  40.974.476 68.407.377 209,299,000
- - - - 3.131 3.131
- - 7.187.150 7.187.150
14.988.921 11.600.788  49.887.906  24.693.108 64.832.750 166.003.473
1.623.690 874.411 - 2.498.101
307.842.923 33.600.108 80.716.828 73.593.349 142.090.918 637.844.126
9.389.986 - - - 8.494.012 17.883.998
413.172.785 60.235.440 93.038.815 - - 566.447.040
2.756.550 - 2.651.906 1.254.899 6.663.355
425319.321 60.235.440  95.690.721 1.254.899 8.494.012 590.994.393
191.200 83.544 B - - 274.744
334.830 1.526.682 8.074.378 4.890.900 1.828.951 16.655.741
139.585 1.547.024 1.265.274 - - 2.951.883
105.741.407 - 105.741.407
106.,407.022 3.157.250 9.339.652 4.890.900 1.828.951 125,623,775

Between 3

Less than Between months Between Over 5
1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years years Total
€ € € € € €
37.295.902 7.087.780 7.174.170 3.184.957 545.787 55.288.596
224.690.633 - - - : 224,690,633
117.769.262 5.106.273 8.827.426  41.861.292 66.800.710 240.364.963
- - - - 5212 5.212
- B - 6.662.847 6.662.847
81.725.065 4.246.671 - 24.667.020 36.148.340 146.787.096
- 3.406.568 1.140.276 - . 4.546.844
461.480.862 19.847.292 17.141.872 69.713.269 110.162.896 678.346.191
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RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
b) Liquidity risk {(continued)

Analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturity (continued)

Between 3
Less than Between months Between Over s
1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years years Total
€ € € - € € €
Financial liabilities
Deposits from banks 10.710.471 736.090 771.341 . 9.554.754 21.772.656
Deposits and other customer accounts  426.284.749 69.626.586  101.670.993 - . 597.582.328
Other financial liabilities 1.455.534 - 4.739.636 1.473.491 - 7.668.661

438.450.754 69.827.044 107.181,970 1.473,491 - 10.090.386 627.023.645

Ofi-balance sheet items

Acceptances and endorsements 556.501 374,280 . 1.130.781
Letrers.of guaraniee 36477 3.509.102 8.458.807 4.377.128 2.150.083 18.531.597
Letters of credit 20.832 2.220.286 132.445 - - 2.373.563
Amount of unwilised credit facilities 97.175.340 - - - 97.175.240

97.789.150 6.303.668 $.591.252 4.377.128 2.150.083 119.211.281

¢) Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices. The Bank is exposed primarily to financial
risks emanating from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. It arises as a result of timing differences on the interest rate repricing of assets
and liabilities. The Bank monitors on a continuous basis the interest rate movements and the repricing or maturity
structure of its assets and liabilities.

Interest rate risk is measured using interest rate sensitivity gap analysis where the difference between assets and
liabilities repricing in each time band is calculated, separately for each currency. The difference is then muliiplied
with the assumed change in interest rates for the period from the repricing date until twelve months from the date
of the analysis, in order to find the anmual impact on earnings of any changes in interest rates for the next twelve
months for each currency.

Sensitivity analysis _

The table below indicates the effect on the Bank’s net profit and equity, if interest rates for the main currencies
were 50 basis points higher. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit' equity. For a decrease of
50 basis points there would be an equal and opposite impact on the net profit and equity.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
¢) Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

USD British Other

Euro Dollars Pound currencies Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Change in interest rates
2020
+50 b.p. in all currencies (1.490) 6] (1.492)
2019
+50 b.p. in all currencies (1.735) (1 (1.736)

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. It arises from an open position in a foreign currency,
creating an exposure to a change in the relevant exchange rate. This may arise from the holding of
financial assets in one currency funded by liabilities in ancther currency.

In order to manage currency risk, the Bank has approved open position limits for each currency. Adherence
to the limits is monitored on a daily basis by the treasury department and the operations and support division.

The table below sets out the Bank’s foreign exchange risk resulting from its open foreign exchange positions.
A positive number below indicates an increase in profit/equity. For a corresponding decrease there would be

an equal and opposite impact on profit/equity.

Open position
€000

Currency
2020
US Dollar (81)
British Pound (5)
Other currencies 1.569
2019
US Dollar 52
British Pound N
Other currencics 1.907

Change in
exchange rate
Yo

+5
+5
+5
+5

+5
+5

Impact on
net profit/

equity
€000

“)
88

@)
®n
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RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
d)  Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from fraud, error, omission, systems {ailure or other external
events. The Bank manages operational risk through the various established policies, limits and written
procedures. The Risk Management Unit, in cooperation with all units and divisions, is responsible for
managing the Bank’s operational risk. Furthermore, this is supported by the reviews undertaken by the
Internal Audit division.

€) Regulatory risk

The operations of the Bank are supervised by the Central Bank of Cyprus. Licensed banking institutions in
Cyprus have to comply with the requirements of both the European Union and Cyprus regulatory
frameworks. Legal or regulatory changes may be introduced in the future either by the European Union
or by the Central Bank of Cyprus which may adversely affect the results and financial position of the Bank.

f) Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

With reference to the above, the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised
at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position
The Bank uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing fair value;

o Level | fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

¢  Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or lability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices).

o Yevel 3 fair value measurcments are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for
the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The following is a descnpuon of the determination of fair value for financial instruments which are
recorded at fair value using valuation techniques.

. The fair values of equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income that are
traded on an active market are determined with reference to quoted market prices. Unquoted equity
securities are valued using valuation techniques that include inputs from non-observable data. The
non-observable inputs to the models for the valuation of unquoted equity investments include
assumptions regarding the future financial performance of the investee, its risk profile, and economic
assumptions regarding the industry in which the investee operates.

® The fair values of derivative instruments are determined: in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market
transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

f) Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

The following table provides the Bank’s financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels I to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is

observabie.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
€ € € €
2020
Financial assets at FVTPL
Derivative financial assets - 75.7704 - 75.704
Equities 3.131 . . 3.131
Financial assets at FVOCI
Equities 6.142.662 - 1.044.488 7.187.150
Total 6.145.793 75.704 1.044.488 7.265.985
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
€ € € €
2019
Financial assets at FVTPL
Derivative financial assets - 34.299 - 34.299
Equitics 5.212 - - 5212
Financial assets at FYOCI
Equities 5.618.359 - 1.044.488 6.662.847
Total 5.623.571 34.299 1.044.488 6.702.358

During 2020 and 2019 there were no transfers between levels.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
Unlisted equity investments

2020 2019

€ €

Balance of 1 January 1.044.488 972.560
Gains recognised in other comprehensive income - 71.928
Balance at 31 December 1.044.488 1.044.488

For the valuation at fair value of the investments in equity securities which are classified as Level 3, a
valuation method based on the Bank’s equity at which the investment is held as well as estimates of the

management of the Bank have becn used.
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39.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

f) Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE (CYPRUS) LIMITED

The following table presents the carrving amounts and the fair value of financial instruments not measured
at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3.

2020

Financial assets measured
at amortised cost

‘Loans and advances to
cusiomers

Deposits with banks
Financial assets at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities
measured at amortised
cost

Deposits and other
customer accounts
Deposiis from banks

2019

Financial assets measured
at ameortised cost

Loans and advances io
customers

Deposits with banks
Financial assets at
amoriised cost

Financial liabilities
measured at amortised
cost -

Deposits and other
customer accounts
Deposits from banks

Level 1
€

166.003.473

‘Level 1

146.787.096

Level 2
€

115.219.242

566.447.040
17.883.998

Level 2
€

223.707.922

597.582.328
21.772.636

Level 3
€

209.299.060

Level 3
€

240.364.963

Fair value
for
disclosure
purposes
€

209.299.000
115.219.242

166.003.473

566.447.040
17.883.998

Fair value
for
disclosure
purposes

: €

240.364.963
223.707.922

146.787.096

597.582.328
21.772.656

Carrving
amount
€

209.299.000
115.219.242

166.003.473

566.447.040
17.883.998

Carrying
amount
€

240.364.963
223.707.922

146.787.096

597.582.328
21.772.656

The cash and balances with ceniral bank are financial instruments whose carrving value is a reasonable
approximation of fair value, because they are mostly short-term in nature.
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40.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Bank manages its capital to ensure that the Bank complies with regulatory capital requirements and
that the Bank maintains adequate capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise

shareholders’ value.

As from 1 January 2014, the new Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR) and amended Capital
Requirements Directive IV (CRD IV) became effective, comprising the European regulatory package
designed to transpose the new capital, liquidity and leverage standards of Basel III into the European
Union’s legal framework. CRR establishes the prudential requirements for capital, liquidity and leverage
that entities need to abide by. It is immediately binding on all EU member states. CRD IV governs
access to deposit-taking activities, internal governance arrangements including remuneration, board
composition and transparency. Unlike the CRR, CRD IV needs to be transposed into national laws,
which allows national regulators to impose additional capital buffer requirements. CRR introduced
significant changes in the prudential regulatory regime applicable to banks including amended minimum
capital adequacy ratios, changes to the definition of capital and the calculation of risk weighted assets and
the introduction of new measures relating to leverage, liquidity and funding,.

The Bank has chosen to apply the EU transitional arrangements for regulatory capital purposes (EU
Regulation 2017/2395) according to which the capital impact of the changes introduced by IFRS 9 at the
beginning of 2018, is ‘phased in’ over a 5-year period. During the ‘phased-in’ 5-year period the IFRS9
impairment provisions are added back to CET1 capital according to the following weighting factors: 0.95,
0.85, 0.7, 0.5 and 0.25 in 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022 respectively.

On 7 June 2019, the EU banking reform package has been published in the Official Journal of the
European Union which includes the Directive (EU) 2019/878 (CRD V) and the Regulation (EU) 2019/876
(CRR 1), entered into force on 27 June 2019. The Regulation {(EU) 2019/876 (CRR 11) includes a number
of amendments regarding the leverage ratio, the net stable funding ratio, requirements for own funds and
eligible liabilities, counterparty credit risk, market risk, exposures to central counterpatties, exposures to
collective investment undertakings, large exposures, reporting and disclosure requirement.

COVID-19 pandemic implications on capital

The ECB announced a package of capital relief measures to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 pandemic
on the EU banking sector. On 24 June 2020, the EU Council announced that it adopted Regulation (EU)
873/2020 ("CRR Quick Fix") amending Regulations (EU) No 575/2013 and (EU) 876/2019 as regards
certain adjustments in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The main amendments which affect the Bank’s regulatory capital include the acceleration of the
implementation of the new SME discount factor under CRR Il introduced earlier in June 2020, instead of
June 2021, extending the IFRS 9 transitional arrangements for mitigating the impact on own funds from
the potential sudden increase in ECL allowance.
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40.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Bank’s capital position under CRD IV/CRR after applying the wansitional arrangement for IFRS 9
and on a fully loaded basis is presented below.

Common Equity Tier (CET1)
Additional Tier 1 Capital (ATI)
Tier 2 Capital (T2)

Regulatory Capital

Risk weighted assets — credit
risk

Risk weighted assets — market
risk

Risk weighted assets —
operational risk

Total risk weighted assets

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio

Tier 1 ratio

Total capital ratio

- According According
to the _ to the
transitional Fully loaded transitional  Fully loaded
arrangements basis arrangements - basis
2020 2020 2019 2019
EUR'000 EUR'000 EUR'G60 EUR'000
96.321 61.940 104.809 70.926
96.321 61.940 104.809 70.926
233.704 237.522 299.772 312,292
2.343 2.343 2.400 2.400
'34.895 34.895 42.325 42.325
270.942 274.760 344,497 357.017
2020 2020 2019 2019
% % %% %
35,55% 22,54% 30,42% 19,87%
35,55% 22,54% 30,42% 19.87%
35,55% 22,54% 30,42% 19,87%

The Bank was compliant with its capital requirements through the years ended 31 December 2019 and 31

December 2020.
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41.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

New Definition of Default

The objective of the European Banking Authority (EBA) published Guidelines on the application of the definition
of default under Article 178 of Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 (EBA/GI./2016/07), applicable from 1 January
2021, and Regulation (EU) 2018/1845 of the European Central Bank (ECB) in relation to the threshold for
assessing the materiality of credit obligations past due is to harmonise the definition of default across the
European Union, thus contributing to improving consistency in the way EU banks apply regulatory requirements
to their capital positions.

In particular, they clarify all aspects relating to the application of the definition of default, including conditions
for a return to non-defaulted status (introduction of a probation period for non-forborne exposures), explicit
criteria for classification of restructured loans as defaulted, and the introduction of specific materiality thresholds
{absolute and relative) to count the days past due and to identify a default event.

The Bank, under the standardized approach, will implement these new provisions from 1 January 2021, from
which date onwards the calculation of expected credit losses will be adjusted.

Classification in Stage 3 under new definition of default

The new definition of default results in classification of loans into Stage 3 according to the following main
criteria:

a) Unpaid payments of over 500 euros for more than 90 consecutive days, representing at least 1% of the total
exposure of the customer. The assessment takes place at obligor level. Only missed payments related to business
litigations, specific contractual features or IT failures (i.e. ‘technical past due' situations) may avoid automatic

transfer into Stage 3 after 90 days.
b) A 3-month probation period for non-forborne exposures, during which no default trigger applies.

¢) Identification of other criteria that cvidence, even in the absence of missed payments, that it is unlikely that
the counterparty could meet all its financial obligations (UTPs), including indicatively the following:

+ the granting of concessions towards debtors facing or about to face difficulties in meeting their financial
commitments that result in a decrease in the present value of cash flows of more than 1% of its initial
value (a distressed restructuring resulting in a diminished financial obligation);

e the partial or full sale of credit obligations at a material credit-related economic loss, i.e. >5%;

o losses recognised in the profit or loss account for instruments measured at fair value that represent
credit risk impairment.

The Bank's preliminary assessments indicate that the changes brought about by the implementation of these
new regulatory default provisions will not have a material effect on the financial statements.

COVID-19 developments

See Note 38.

Independent auditor’s report on pages 6 to 11.
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